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CEO Report

Mario Pirone
B.Bus, Grad.Dip. Bus, FCPA
(Chief Executive Officer)

4 Guild Group Holdings Limited

It’s been another successful and
demanding year, with the themes of
2020 continuing throughout 2021, as
we navigate further challenges in relation
to the pandemic. Transformational
change, wellbeing and digital strategy
have remained front and centre of our
operations, which have enabled our gross
revenue to increase by over 15% in the
year. The year saw continued positive top
line revenue performance right across
the Group including strong premium
growth in our core insurance markets
and increasing funds under management
(FUM) and Member growth in our
superannuation business.

Communications and connectivity have
also been paramount this year, with a
significant number of our team members
working from home and unable to
connect with their teams in person. We
have performed exceptionally well in
these areas, with survey data showing
that 84% agree that our leaders keep
their teams informed and our Group level
communications are clear and effective. I
am pleased to see that our hybrid working
program #CONNECT launched earlier this
year has also been well-received, with an
89% positive score encompassing team
connectivity, confidence in supporting
customers and flexible working.

While being agile was critical in 2020,
this year highlighted the importance
of wellbeing and mental health in
high-performing teams such as ours.
Improvements to our digital strategy and
wellbeing programs have been a focus
and with the support of our Technology
and People and Culture teams in these
areas, productivity of our team members
has remained high. Our 2021 Engagement
Survey demonstrated that our people
are feeling supported, and that the
business has a genuine care for their
wellbeing, which has been emphasised
as a key factor for both retention and
talent attraction for companies in a postpandemic world.

In last year’s report I covered the
innovative solutions produced by Guild
Insurance, which enabled us to enter the
new market of Pet Insurance, delivering a
product in partnership with the Australian
Veterinary Association to support our vets
to provide quality care for their patients.
Guild Insurance received numerous
accolades for the solution in 2020 and the
recognition has continued in 2021.
The Pet Insurance training program
created by our learning team and Guild
Insurance was awarded Best Blended
Learning Program by the Australian
Institute of Training & Development (AITD)
Excellence Awards in November 2021.
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Further accolades arose from the
Australian and New Zealand Institute of
Insurance and Finance (ANZIIF), who
awarded Guild Insurance Small General
Insurance Company of the Year due to our
ongoing commitment and support for our
people and the community. This award
demonstrates that our people truly live by
our values, as we were able to be there for
our communities through the clarification
of insurance cover for our customers,
by supporting the COVID-19 vaccination
(COVAX) roll out, by providing pandemic
relief to numerous customers through
2020 and through the launching of the
Guild Leadership Academy for our own
team members.
Guild Insurance’s intermediary business,
Acerta, continued the growth of our digital
broker platform “Momentum”, breaking
through $6m in premium for the financial
year and our broker partners using the
platform have written $16.2m of premium
since its launch in 2017.
Our mission to reimagine the way
we deliver superannuation services
continued throughout 2021, with Guild
Trustee Services changing the Fund’s
administration service to a digital first
“Software as a Service (SaaS) model”. This
involved migrating Guild and Childcare
Super employers to a new and improved
digital portal and enables us to improve

our services and enhance our automated
marketing campaigns, while significantly
reducing the cost base of the business.
Being on the front-line for the pandemic as
a key support to pharmacists for the past
two years, in 2021 the GuildLink team
developed the COVID-19 vaccination
booking system; rolling out the system
to 842 pharmacies across Australia,
with more than 435,000 vaccinations
administered. GuildLink also successfully
finished the development and testing work
for the national pilot of the integration
between GuildCare NG and the Australian
Immunisation Register (AIR), enabling
pharmacists to make the right decisions
for their patients, while looking at their
vaccination records in real-time.
Meridian Lawyers achieved a significant
milestone earlier this year with their new
practice management system being
launched. Like the rest of the Group,
Meridian excelled in providing support to
their clients throughout the year and their
expertise and service was recognised
with 21 lawyers making the Best Lawyers
in Australia list, including three Principals
who received Lawyer of the Year in their
speciality. Meridian’s success was further
acknowledged by receiving a five-star law
firm rating from both Insurance Business
and Australasian Lawyer.

Together, our Shared Services teams
continued to support our businesses.
While Technology and People and
Culture were at the forefront of adapting
our ways of working, our Risk, Audit
and Compliance team worked closely
with our businesses to implement an
unprecedented volume of regulatory
changes. Our Finance teams also faced
the challenge of change and maintained
regular financial reporting and capital
monitoring throughout the year.
Officially launching in 2020, our standalone operation in the Philippines, Guild
Solutions Inc expanded their support of
our Australian-based teams this year and
grew the team by 25%.
As 2021 comes to a close, I would like
to thank our team members for your
dedication, resilience and care for each
other and our communities. I am proud
of the support and commitment our team
members across the Group have shown
during a difficult year, whilst still delivering
outstanding results for our customers.
Your ability to #LIVEIT is what makes
the culture of Guild extraordinary and
shows that together we can deliver on
our purpose to be there for those our
communities rely on.

Annual Report 2021 5

Report of Directors

1.

DIRECTORS

Your Directors present their report on
the consolidated Group consisting of
Guild Group Holdings Limited and the
entities it controlled for the year ended
30 June 2021.
The names and details of the company’s
Directors in office during the financial
year and up to the date of this report
are as follows. Directors were in
office for this entire period unless
otherwise stated.

Andrew Bloore

John Dowling

(Non-Executive Director)

FCPA, FAICD, FACP
(Non-Executive Director)

Andrew has been described as a serial
entrepreneur and has been involved
in the establishment, design, funding,
commercialisation, and ultimate sale
(both trade sale and IPO) of a number
of businesses in a diverse range of
industries. Andrew has stood as a CEO
for over 20 years. Andrew has sat on a
wide range of Australian Tax Office (ATO)
and Treasury Committees, including the
Simple Super Legislation Committee, ATO
Regulations Review and a range of Senate
Select Committees.
Andrew is the Chair of Guild Group
Holdings, Guild Insurance Limited and
Guild Link. He is also a Non-Executive
Director of Meridian Lawyers Ltd,
Gold Cross Products and Services Pty
Ltd, IOOF Holding Limited, IOOF Ltd,
IOOF Investment Management Ltd,
OnePath Custodians Pty Ltd, Oasis
Fund Management Limited, Simonds
Family Office Pty Ltd and Chairman of
Guildlink Pty Ltd. Additionally Andrew is
on a range of subcommittees for these
various entities.
Andrew was appointed as a Director on
1 September 2016.
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John is a Pharmacist, Certified
Practising Accountant (Fellow) and
a Fellow of the Australian Institute
of Company Directors and the
Australian College of Pharmacy.
John is the owner of Coventry’s
Pharmacy, Latrobe, Tasmania,
Tasmanian State Vice- President
and a National Councillor of the
Pharmacy Guild of Australia
(PGA). John is a Director of Guild
Group Holding Limited, Guild
Insurance Limited, GuildLink Pty
Ltd and Gold Cross Products and
Services Pty Ltd.
John was appointed as a Director
on 1 January 2013.
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Stephen Somogyi

Trent Twomey

MSc (Melb), SM (MIT),
FIAA, FAICD, FFin
(Non-Executive Director)

BPharm, BBus, FACP,
FAICD, FIML
(Non-Executive Director)

Steve is Principal Advisor, Strategic
Projects at Monash University and has
extensive experience in the financial
services and health care industries,
including 27 years with National
Mutual and as Executive Member of
the Australian Prudential Regulation
Authority from 2003 to 2006. Steve also
served as Chief Operating Officer at
RMIT University from 2006 to 2016.
Steve holds a Master of Science
in Physics from the University of
Melbourne and a Master of Science in
Management from the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology. Steve is a
Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries of
Australia, the Australian Institute of
Company Directors, and the Financial
Services Institute of Australia. Steve
is also a Commissioner on the Safety,
Rehabilitation and Compensation
Commission, Chair of Higher Ed
Services, Chair of CourseLoop, Director
of UniSuper and Study Loans Pty Ltd.
Steve was appointed as a Director
on 1 June 2008 and retired on
30 June 2021.

Trent is a Pharmacist and owns a
number of pharmacies in Northern
Queensland. Trent is currently the
National President of the Pharmacy
Guild of Australia and previously held
the positions of the Senior National
Vice President and Queensland
President. He has been a Director of
the Guild for over eleven years and
was part of the negotiating team
for the $18.9B Sixth Community
Pharmacy Agreement. Trent is
Chairman of Advance Cairns, the
peak economic development and
advocacy organisation for Tropical
North Queensland and Chairman of
the Northern Australia Alliance. He is
an Adjunct Professor at James Cook
University, the Secretary of the World
Pharmacy Council, a Council Member
of the Queensland Futures Institute,
and a Trustee for the Committee
for Economic Development of
Australia. Trent is a Fellow of the
Australian College of Pharmacy,
the Australian Institute of Company
Directors and the Australian Institute
of Managers and Leaders. He is a
former Chairman of the Northern
Queensland Primary Health Network
and National President of the
Australian College of Pharmacy.

Catherine Dubé
BSc Mathematics,
FIAA, FSA, GAICD
(Non-Executive Director)
Catherine is an Actuary with over
25 years’ experience in financial
services. From 2012 to 2020,
Catherine was Chief Risk Officer at
AIG where she was responsible for
the development and execution of
the risk management strategy for the
Australasian region. Prior to this role,
Catherine held a number of senior
corporate and consultancy positions
across the general, life and health
insurance sectors. Catherine is currently
a Non-Executive Director and Chair
of the Audit Committee for Challenger
Retirement and Investment Services.
She also serves on the Board of Sacré
Coeur as Deputy Chair and Chair of
the Risk Committee. Catherine is a
Fellow of the Actuaries Institute, a
Fellow of the Society of Actuaries and
a graduate of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors.
Catherine was appointed as a Director
on 20 November 2019.

Trent was appointed as a Director
on 7 March 2018.
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Michael Kay

Elisabet Wreme

LLB.
(Non-Executive Director)

MSc, Prof Doc BA,
GAICD
(Company Secretary)

Michael is an experienced NonExecutive Director and Chairperson.
Michael is the current Chairman of
Omni Bridgeway (ASX: OBL) and
City Chic Collective Ltd. In June 21
Michael retired as a Non-Executive
Director of Royal Automobile Club
Insurance Limited, after a twelveyear tenure. He has also been the
Chairman of ApplyDirect Limited
and Lovisa Holdings Limited.
Michael was the Chief Executive
Officer and Managing Director
of salary packaging company
McMillan Shakespeare (ASX: MMS),
a position he held for six years.
Prior to this Michael was the Chief
Executive Officer of national insurer
AAMI after serving in a variety of
senior roles within that company.
Michael has also spent 12 years in
private legal practice.
Michael was appointed as a
Director on 1 February 2021
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Elisabet is an experienced senior
executive and Director with a wealth of
leadership experiences across Digital,
Telecommunication and Financial
Services. A highly professional leader
with a genuine understanding of
technology, Elisabet loves creating
great customer experiences and strong
business outcomes at the same time.
She has held senior management
positions with NAB and Telstra
before joining GGHL as the COO.
She is currently also a non-executive
Director of the YMCA Victoria and
BreastScreen Victoria.
Elisabet was appointed as Company
Secretary on 25 September 2018.
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2.

underlying assumptions are subject to
conditions outside the control of the
company. Actual economic conditions
may be different from forecast and events
may not unfold as anticipated. The
financial impact of these uncertainties are
predominantly in relation to the valuation
of the outstanding claims liability and
the premium liability and the resultant
capital implications.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities during the year
within the consolidated Group were:
> general insurance underwriting;
> providing superannuation;
> providing legal services; and
> providing software solutions

3.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS 2021

$’000

Profit (Loss) for the year is attributable to:

Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

(13,252)
389

Loss(12,863)

4.

DIVIDENDS

Dividends recommended and paid in the
2020/2021 financial year by Guild Group
Holdings Limited:
$’000

on ordinary shares

5.

$nil

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the 2020/21 financial year,
the Group continued to progress the
execution of its business strategy, while
maintaining a strong financial position.
The Group continues to deal with the risk
and uncertainty in relation to COVID-19.
The Board and the Executive Leadership
team have been working hard to ensure
there is minimal impact on its people,
customers and the business resulting from
COVID-19.
In evaluating the nature and extent of the
impact of potential COVID-19 business
interruption claims on the company in the
financial statements, the Group Actuary
and Management have considered a
range of estimates for the potential impact
on key risk exposures that have been
identified by Management. The Directors
believe that the estimated liability for
outstanding claims and premium liability
are reasonable in the circumstances.
There is a large degree of judgement
involved in preparing the forecasts. The

To support the Group’s capital position the
equity owner of the business has elected
not to take a dividend. The Directors
are continuing to monitor the effect of
COVID-19 on the business and take
action as required.
The Group’s shareholders’ equity
increased by $6.3m following the
acquisition of Gold Cross Products and
Services Pty Ltd and PharmaDotCom
Pty Ltd (Gold Cross) on the 30th of
June 2021.

6.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES
IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

Guild Insurance Limited reduced the
Probability of Sufficiency (POS) from
95% to 85% to reflect the lower level of
aggregate risk across the portfolio through
the benefits of diversification of risk
over time.
An allowance of $58.0m against potential
COVID-19 pandemic related Business
Interruption claims is included in the net
provision for the outstanding claims liability
at 85% level of sufficiency. The provision
is derived from a range of scenarios
modelled and reviewed by the Board.
Gold Cross Products & Services Pty Ltd
was acquired by Guild Insurance Limited
on the 30th of June 2021. 100% of the
equity (403 fully paid ordinary shares) was
acquired for a consideration of $6,290,990
funded through a capital injection from
the parent entity of Guild Group Holdings
Limited, the Pharmacy Guild of Australia.
At the date of acquisition Gold Cross had
net assets of $6,223,053 measured at
book value.
Gold Cross Products & Services is a fully
owned subsidiary of the Pharmacy Guild

of Australia and endorses pharmacy
products and services badged with the
Guild’s logo.

7.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER
REPORTING DATE

Trent Twomey resigned as Director
on 31 August 2021 and Anthony
Tassone was appointed as Director on
1 September 2021.
Effective 1 July 2021, Guild Insurance
moved its Personal Lines portfolio into
a new 100% quota share reinsurance
treaty covered by Hannover Re, Swiss
Re and Aspen Re. Previously the portfolio
was placed with The Hollard Insurance
Company Pty Ltd which ended on
30 June 2021. The reinsurance treaty
applies to losses occurring during the
reinsured period.
Effective 1 July 2021, Guild Insurance
placed its Commercial Motor Vehicle
portfolio in a 50% quota share treaty
(covered by Hannover Re, Swiss Re,
Aspen Re and Gen Re). The reinsurance
treaty applies to losses occurring during
the reinsured period.
Effective 31 August 2021, Guild
Insurance placed all other product lines
in a 12.5% Whole of Account Quota
Share reinsurance treaty with Hannover
Re and Berkshire covering net of
inuring reinsurances claim costs from
all product lines. The reinsurance treaty
applies to losses occurring during the
reinsured period.
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to
be a challenge both in Australia and
overseas. It is not possible to predict the
effect and ultimate impact of the pandemic
as the situation continues to evolve.
The Directors along with management
continue to monitor the situation and take
action as required.

8.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
AND EXPECTED RESULTS

The focus for the year ahead will continue
to be based on three key objectives:
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Customers
Commitment to customers remains the
cornerstone of the business model. The
goal is to continually improve the value
the Group provide to existing clients
while leveraging the enhanced business
development capability and new distribution
channels to win new customers.
People
Management seek to retain its people
through providing them an environment
where they can excel in and be rewarded
for their achievements. Management will
actively seek to attract new talent into the
entity as we build the Business. Some
focus will be given to the new way of
working that will emerge from the impacts
of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Financial Performance
Management will target strong earnings
and growth targets while ensuring
the Group retains a conservative well
capitalised position.

9.

OUTSTANDING CLAIMS
PROVISION IN CONTROLLED
GROUP (GUILD INSURANCE
LIMITED)

The provision for outstanding claims is
determined after consultation with the
Appointed Actuary. The outstanding
claims assessment takes into account
the statistical analysis of past claims,
allowance for claims incurred but not
reported, recoveries and future interest
and inflation factors. The Directors
consider that adequate risk margins
are required in addition to actuarial
central estimates to cover uncertainties
such as changes in interest rates and
superimposed inflation.
The APRA standards provide that
outstanding claims must be set at a level
that provides a probability of at least
75% that the provision for outstanding
claims will be adequate to settle claims as
they become payable in the future. The
Directors have satisfied themselves that
the Group’s outstanding claims provision
exceeds this requirement. Consistent
with Guild policy, the Directors have also
reviewed the probability of sufficiency at
the 85% level and determined it to be

appropriate based on the underlying risk
profile and the business plan.
An explicit allowance of $58.0m for
COVID-19 pandemic related Business
Interruption claims has been added to the
net outstanding claims provision of Guild
Insurance Limited. This is derived from a
range of scenarios and a consensus view
on the appropriate level for the reserves
recommended by management and
approved by the Board after consultation
with the Appointed Actuary. No premium
liability for COVID-19 pandemic related
losses is considered necessary.

10. CAPITAL ADEQUACY OF GUILD
INSURANCE LIMITED
Guild Insurance Limited’s Common Equity
Tier 1 (CET1) capital was $116.2 million
(2020: $123.8 million) and regulatory
capital of $133.1 million (2020: $140.7
million) at 30 June 2021 as per the
requirements of the Australian Prudential
Regulatory Authority’s Prudential
Standards. At 30 June 2021, Guild
Insurance Limited had a CET1 multiple of
1.6 (2020: 1.8) and a PCA multiple of 1.8
(2020: 2.0).
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

I. Common Equity Tier 1 capital
Ordinary shares
Retained earnings

9,866

3,575

97,332

112,388

26,397

19,226

Less: Deductions

(17,371)

(11,360)

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1 capital)

116,224

123,829

Excess technical provisions (net of tax)

II. Additional Tier 1 capital

-

-

116,224

123,829

Eligible Tier 2 capital instruments

16,840

16,840

Total Tier 2 capital

16,840

16,840

133,064

140,669

47,215

41,653

Total Tier 1 capital
III. Tier 2 capital

Total regulatory capital
IV. Prescribed Capital Amount (PCA)
Insurance risk charge
Insurance concentration risk charge
Asset risk charge
Asset concentration risk charge
Aggregation benefit
Operating risk charge
Total PCA

2,844

3,000

33,980

34,642

-

-

(18,153)

(17,548)

9,254

7,051

75,140

68,798

PCA multiple

1.77

2.04

CET1 multiple

1.55

1.80
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In the above table, the Regulatory Capital includes contributed equity provided by Guild Group Holdings Limited (GGHL), which is
treated as Tier 2 capital for regulatory purposes by Guild Insurance Limited (GIL). The treatment as Tier 2 capital reflects the source of
the capital in the parent entity GGHL, which is Interest-bearing Tier 2 Capital. It is noted that for APRA regulatory purposes Common
Equity Tier 1 CET 1 capital in a subsidiary is not intended to be funded by lesser quality capital raised by a parent.

11. ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The operations of the controlled Group are not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulations under a Commonwealth,
State or Territory law.
The Directors are not aware of any breaches of significant environmental regulations during the period covered by this report that are
likely to result in a material impact on the Group or the environment.

12. MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Group’s Directors (including meetings of committees of Directors) held during
the year ended 30 June 2021, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director.

Risk
Management Remuneration
& Compliance & Nominations
Committee
Committee
(GGHL)
(GGHL)

Full Meeting
of Directors
(GGHL &
GSSL)

Full
Meeting
of Directors
(GIL)

Audit
Committee
(GGHL)

Capital
Committee

Digital
& Customer
Committee
(DCC)

Full Meeting
of Directors
(Guildlink)

Full Meeting
of Directors
(Gold Cross)

6

7

5

4

4

6

5

6

6

C. Dube

6

7

5

4

-

6

-

6

6

K. Pratt

-

-

-

-

-

-

5

-

-

M. Kay*

3

3

2

2

1

-

2

3

3

S. Somogyi**

6

7

5

4

4

6

-

6

6

6

7

5

-

4

-

5

6

6

L. M. Jenkinson

-

-

-

-

-

6

5

6

6

J. Dowling

6

7

5

4

4

-

-

6

6

5

5

-

-

-

6

5

5

6

N. Panayiaris

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6

6

M. J. Pirone
(as director of GSSL)

6

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Number of Meetings Held
Number of Meetings Attended By:

#

R. A. Bloore
#

T. Twomey
#

* Director: appointed from 1 February 2021
** Director: retired from 30 June 2021
# Separation of GTS Board/creation GTS Committees 1 July 2020

13. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
No Director of the Group has received or become entitled to receive a benefit because of a contract made by the Group or a related
body corporate with the Director or a firm of which they are a member, or with a Group in which they have a substantial financial
interest.

14. COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP
As at the date of this report, the Group had a Capital, Remuneration & Nominations, Audit, Risk Management & Compliance and a
Reinsurance Committee of the Board of Directors.
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Members acting on the committees of the board during the year were:
GGHL

GSS

GIL

Andrew Bloore

Chair

Chair

John Dowling

Director

Trent Twomey

Director

Catherine Dube

Director

Michael Kay

Director

MLL

GLK

GC

Chair

Director

Chair

Director

Director

Director

Chair

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

GTS

Director

Director

Linda Jenkinson

Chair

Director

Chair

Nick Panayiaris

Director

Director

Director

Kerri Pratt

Director

Mario Pirone

Director

Director

15. INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
During the financial year, Guild Group Holdings Limited paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors, Company
Secretary and Officers of the Group against a liability incurred as a Director, Secretary or Officer to the extent permitted by the
Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.
The Group has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify a Director, a Company Secretary,
an Officer or Auditor of the company or any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such a Director, Company Secretary,
Officer or Auditor.

16. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
The workforce of the Group stands at 498 full time equivalent employees at 30 June 2021 (481 - 30 June 2020). The consolidated
Group staff numbers are expected to remain stable over the next twelve months to ensure that there are adequate staffing resources to
manage the anticipated revenue growth.

17. ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS TO NEAREST THOUSAND DOLLARS
The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) (where
rounding is applicable) under the option available to the Company under ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191. The Group is a
company to which the Class Order applies.

18. DECLARATION FROM AUDITORS
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 14.

A. Bloore
Chairman

C. Dube
Non-Executive Director

Melbourne
31 August 2021

Melbourne
31 August 2021
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Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Guild Group Holdings Limited, we state that:
In the opinion of the Directors:
a.	 the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i.	 giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and
ii.	 complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations
Regulations 2001;
b.	 the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2.
c.	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.
On behalf of the Board

A. Bloore
Chairman

C. Dube
Non-Executive Director

Melbourne
31 August 2021

Melbourne
31 August 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia
GPO Box 67 Melbourne VIC 3001

Tel: +61 3 9288 8000
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777
ey.com/au

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Guild Group Holdings
Limited
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Guild Group Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:
a)

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2021 and
of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

b)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Emphasis of Matter: Business Interruption Outstanding Claims Provision
We draw attention to Note 4 of the financial report which details the key assumptions and areas of
uncertainty in determining the business interruption provision included within the outstanding claims
liability. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report
accompanying the financial report.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Ernst & Young

M Pallisco
Partner
Melbourne
1 September 2021

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia
GPO Box 67 Melbourne VIC 3001

Tel: +61 3 9288 8000
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777
ey.com/au

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Guild Group
Holdings Limited
As lead auditor for the audit of Guild Group Holdings Limited for the financial year ended 30 June
2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and
b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
This declaration is in respect of Guild Group Holdings Limited and the entities it controlled during the
financial year.

Ernst & Young

Maree Pallisco
Partner
Melbourne
1 September 2021

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Statement of
Financial Position
Year ended 30 June 2021

Notes

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

8(c)

55,167

35,727

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

9

136,888

98,014

10

33,702

30,009

924

-

11

327,403

319,877

12(a)

314

164

Income tax receivable
Investments
Investment in Joint Venture

13

12,798

9,409

Deferred acquisition costs

14(b)

20,481

16,523

Deferred outwards reinsurance premium expense

Prepayments and work in progress

14(d)

23,543

15,676

Property, plant and equipment

15

1,473

1,682

Right-of-use assets

16

11,638

16,381

Deferred tax assets

6

18,340

21,169

17

13,118

10,601

655,789

575,232

36,808

25,468

Intangible assets and goodwill
Total Assets
Liabilities
Trade and other payables

18(b)
-

-

512

19(b)

155,315

117,941

Interest-bearing borrowings

20

17,252

16,840

Lease liabilities

21

15,657

21,503

Provisions

22

22,929

18,332

Income tax payable
Premium liabilities

6

-

8,752

23

287,378

238,942

Total Liabilities

535,339

448,290

Net Assets

120,450

126,942

Deferred tax liabilities
Claims liabilities

Equity
Contributed equity

24(a)

21,420

15,129

Retained earnings

24(d)

95,289

108,541

25

2,160

1,623

24(e)

1,581

1,649

120,450

126,942

Non-controlling interest
Merger reserve
Total Equity

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Year ended 30 June 2021

Premium revenue

Notes

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

5(a)

235,639

212,952

Outwards reinsurance premium expense

(76,536)

(38,079)

Net premium revenue

159,103

174,873

Claims expense

5(e)

(141,569)

(120,003)

Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue

5(f)

38,899

27,973

(102,670)

92,030

Net claims expense
5(h)

(41,009)

(38,466)

Underwriting expenses

5(i)

(45,348)

(42,613)

Doubtful debts

5(l)

142

(283)

(29,782)

1,481

3,092

4,880

(26,690)

6,361

Acquisition costs

Underwriting result

Investment revenue on assets backing policyholder funds

5(b)

Insurance trading result
Investment revenue on assets backing shareholder funds

5(c)

5,526

1,298

Fee and other income

5(d)

72,663

52,911

(69,932)

(66,482)

Other operating expenses
Finance costs

5(j)

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

6

Net profit for the year

(619)

(799)

(19,052)

(6,711)

6,189

2,313

(12,863)

(4,398)

(13,252)

(4,409)

389

11

(12,863)

(4,398)

(13,252)

(4,409)

Profit (Loss) for the year is attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

389

11

(12,863)

(4,398)

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of
Changes in Equity
Year ended 30 June 2021

Attributable to equity holders

2021
At 30 June 2020

Ordinary
Shares
$’000

Merger
Reserve
$’000

Retained
Earnings
$’000

Non
controlling
Interest
$’000

Total
Equity
$’000

15,129

1,649

108,541

1,623

126,942

Changes in equity during the period
Net profit/(loss)

-

-

(13,252)

389

(12,863)

Gold Cross acquisition – Merger reserve

-

(68)

-

-

(68)

Issue of share capital
Total comprehensive income and expense for the period
Dividends provided or paid
At 30 June 2021

6,291

-

-

148

6,439

21,420

1,581

95,289

2,160

120,450

-

-

-

-

-

21,420

1,581

95,289

2,160

120,450

14,485

1,649

117,238

1,756

135,128

2020
At 30 June 2019
Impact of AASB 16
At 1 July 2019

-

-

(588)

-

(588)

14,485

1,649

116,650

1,756

134,540

-

-

(4,409)

11

(4,398)

Changes in equity during the period
Net profit/(loss)
Issue of share capital
Total comprehensive income and expense for the period
Dividends provided or paid
At 30 June 2020

644

-

-

(144)

500

15,129

1,649

112,241

1,623

130,642

-

-

(3,700)

-

(3,700)

15,129

1,649

108,541

1,623

126,942

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of
Cash Flows
Year ended 30 June 2021

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Premiums received

237,263

214,597

Outwards reinsurance paid

(94,657)

(35,640)

Claims paid

(99,467)

(101,879)

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities

Reinsurance and other recoveries received
Acquisition costs paid
Other operating expenses paid
Reinsurance commission received
Agency commission received
Fees and other income

34,170

26,555

(42,100)

(42,104)

(116,234)

(117,673)

28,514

3,438

6,171

-

73,341

75,664

(619)

(1,510)

(1,635)

1,275

(149)

-

24,598

22,723

Distribution from unit trust received

1,893

1,996

Interest received

8,548

9,677

Payments for property, plant and equipment

(396)

(194)

-

69

Interest and other costs of finance paid
Income tax (refunded) paid
Payments for leases of low-value assets
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

(37,274)

(37,445)

Proceeds from financial assets

26,185

30,769

Payment for purchase of shares in subsidiary

(6,291)

-

Payment for intangible assets

(4,322)

(3,364)

(11,657)

1,508

-

(3,700)

Repayment of lease liabilities

(7,047)

(6,084)

Proceeds from issue of equity

6,291

644

Loan to other related parties

(325)

-

Net cash flows used in financing activities

(1,081)

(9,140)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

11,860

15,091

7,580

-

35,727

20,636

55,167

35,727

Payments for financial assets

Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid – Controlling interest

8(b)

Closing cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2021 – Goldcross
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June

8(c)

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Annual Report 2021 21

Notes to the
Financial Statements
Year ended 30 June 2021
1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The financial report for Guild Group
Holdings Limited for the year ended
30 June 2021 was authorised for issue
in accordance with a resolution of the
Directors on 31 August 2021.
Guild Group Holdings Limited is a for profit
company limited by shares incorporated
in Australia. The ultimate parent entity
of Guild Group Holdings Limited is The
Pharmacy Guild of Australia.
The nature of the operations and principal
activities of the Group are general
insurance underwriting, superannuation
and legal services.
The registered office for this entity is at
Level 13, 171 Collins Street Melbourne,
Victoria.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Basis of preparation
This general purpose financial report has
been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001
including applicable Accounting Standards
and other authoritative pronouncements of
the Australian Accounting Standards Board.
The financial report has been prepared on
a historical cost basis, except for financial
assets that are measured at fair value. The
accounting policies adopted are consistent
with those of previous years, except where
noted below.
The financial report is presented in
Australian dollars and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand dollars ($000),
unless otherwise stated.
When required by Accounting Standards,
comparative figures have been adjusted to

conform to changes in presentation for the
current financial year. Any such changes
have had no effect on the financial position
or performance of the entity.
b. Compliance with IFRS
The financial report complies with
Australian Accounting Standards and
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.
c. New accounting standards and
interpretations
The new Standards and Interpretations
have no material impact for the reporting
period June 2021.
Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations that have recently been
issued or amended but are not yet effective
and have not been adopted by the Group
for the annual reporting period ended 30
June 2021, outlined in the table below:

Reference

Title

Application date

AASB 2020-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Insurance Contracts

1 January 2021

1 July 2022

A

AASB 9

Financial Instruments – AASB replaces AASB 139
Financial Instruments: Recognition & Measurement

1 January 2023

1 July 2023

A

AASB 17

Insurance Contracts

1 January 2023

1 July 2023

B

AASB 2016-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Applying AASB 9 Financial Instruments with AASB 4
Insurance Contracts

1 January 2022

1 July 2023

A

AASB 2014-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2022

1 July 2023

A

AASB 2020-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

1 January 2022

1 July 2023

A

AASB 2020-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Annual Improvements to 2018-2020 and Other
Amendments

1 January 2022

1 July 2023

A

AASB 2021-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Disclosure of Accounting Policies & Definition of
Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023

1 July 2024

A

AASB 2021-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Deferred Tax related to Assets & Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

1 January 2023

1 July 2024

A
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TABLE NOTE
A At the reporting date management
have not yet assessed the impact of
implementing this standard.
B AASB 17 Insurance Contracts
AASB 17 replaces AASB 1023 General
Insurance Contracts for for-profit entities.
It is currently effective for reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2023 making
the first applicable reporting period for the
year ending 30 June 2024, along with the
comparative period for the year ending 30
June 2023 restated on a AASB 17 basis.
The new Standard requires the application
of a new measurement model and
introduces significant changes to the
presentation and disclosure of insurance
contracts.

d. Basis of conslidation
The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of
Guild Group Holdings Limited (the parent
company) and its subsidiaries as at 30
June each year (the Group).
Subsidiaries are all those entities over
which the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies so as
to obtain benefits from their activities. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period
as the parent company, using consistent
accounting policies.
In preparing the Consolidated Financial
Statements, all intercompany balances
and transactions, income and expenses
and profit or losses resulting from intragroup transactions have been eliminated
in full.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is obtained by the
Group and cease to be consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred
out of the Group.
The acquisition of subsidiaries under
common control is accounted for
using the pooling of interest method
of accounting. The pooling of interest
method of accounting involves the

The Standard introduces two models
which may be applicable to Guild
Insurance Limited. The General Model
measures insurances contracts on the
basis of the fulfilment cash flows (present
value of estimate future cash flows with
a provision for risk) and the contractual
service margin (being the unearned profit
that will be recognised over the coverage
period). The second model known as the
Premium Allocation Approach is likened to
the current model adopted under AASB
1023 which is permitted for short-term
portfolios with cover periods within twelve
months or for long-term portfolios if the
liability for remaining coverage is not
expected to materially differ from the
General Model.

Appointed Actuary who are currently
working through a detailed assessment
of its insurance portfolio to determine
the appropriate measurement model
to adopt. Position papers outlining
accounting policies are in the process of
being produced to outline the AASB 17
requirements including assessment of
contract boundaries, levels of aggregation,
measurement model (based on eligibility),
groups of contract, reinsurance treatment,
risk adjustments and the transition method
to be adopted.
The Group continues to closely monitor
developments in the standard, whilst also
assessing its impact in reporting prudential
standards as well as capital and impact on
the operations of the business.

The Group has established an AASB
17 project team in conjunction with its

reflection of the assets and liabilities of
the combining entities at their carrying
values with no goodwill being recognised.
The identifiable assets acquired, and
the liabilities assumed are measured at
their acquisition date book values. Upon
acquisition the group has recognised a
merger reserve which arose on a business
combination that was accounted under
the pooling of interest method. No
comparative figures have been disclosed
in the previous period. Refer to note 30(b)
for more details on the Group’s merger
reserve.
The acquisition of subsidiaries external
to the group is accounted for using the
acquisition method of accounting. The
acquisition method of accounting involves
recognising at acquisition date, separately
from goodwill, the identifiable assets
acquired, the liabilities assumed and any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree.
The identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are measured at their
acquisition date fair values.
The difference between the above items
and the fair value of the consideration
(including the fair value of any pre-existing
investment in the acquiree) is goodwill or a
discount on acquisition.

A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary that does not result in a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
Non-controlling interests are allocated
their share of net profit after tax in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income
and are presented within equity in the
consolidated Statement of Financial
Position, separately from the equity of the
owners of the parent.
Total comprehensive income within
a subsidiary is attributed to the noncontrolling interest even if that results in a
deficit balance.
e. Current versus non-current
classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities
in the Statement of Financial Position in
order of liquidity.
An asset is current when it is:
> Expected to be realised in normal
operating cycle;
> Held primarily for the purpose of
trading;
> Expected to be realised within
twelve months after the reporting
period, or;
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> Cash or cash equivalent unless
restricted from being exchanged or
used to settle a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting
period.
All other assets are classified as noncurrent.
A liability is current when:
> It is expected to be settled in normal
operating cycle;
> It is held primarily for the purpose of
trading;
> It is due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period,
or;
> There is no unconditional right to
defer the settlement of the liability
for at least twelve months after the
reporting period.
The Group classifies all other liabilities as
non-current.
f. Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured
at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable to the extent that it
is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue can be
reliably measured. The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met
before revenue is recognised:
Premium revenue
Premium Revenue comprises amounts
charged to the policyholder, including fire
service levies, but excluding stamp duties
and other amounts collected on behalf of
third parties.
Premium Revenue is treated as earned
from the date of attachment of risk.
Where material, premiums on unclosed
business are brought to account by
reference to the previous year's premium
processing delays with due allowance
for any changes in the pattern of new
business and renewals.
The pattern of recognition of income over
the policy or indemnity periods is based
on time, which closely approximates the
pattern of risks underwritten. Unearned
premium is determined by apportioning
24 Guild Group Holdings Limited

the premiums written in the year, using
the 365ths method based on date of
attachment of risk. The portion not
earned, as determined by the above
method, is classified in the Statement of
Financial Position as unearned premium.
Revenue from contracts with customers
i.

Superannuation fees
Fees earned are recognised when the
entity’s right to receive the payment
is established, by reference to the
members participation in the fund. The
performance obligation is met at the
end of each month.

ii. Insurance administration and
exit fees
Insurance administration and exit
fee income is recognised when the
entity’s right to receive the payment
is established, by reference to the
members participation in the fund.
The performance obligation is met at
the end of each month. If a member
decides to leave the fund an exit fee
will be charged at the date of exit and
the income recognised at the same
point in time.
iii. Transaction prices
The Company allocates the
transaction price to each performance
obligation based on the Product
Disclosure Statement. Allocation of
transaction price is otherwise based
on either daily or monthly participation,
depending on the revenue category
and the members options.
iv. Presentation and disclosure
requirements
The Company has disaggregated
revenue recognised from contracts
with customers into categories that
depict how the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows are affected by
economic factors. The Company
also disclosed information about the
relationship between the disclosure of
disaggregated revenue and revenue
information disclosed for each
reportable segment. Refer to note 5(a)

for the disclosure of disaggregated
revenue.
v. Provision of legal services –
Insurance
Revenue from the provision of
Insurance legal advice is recognised
over the time that the services are
performed on a time and material
basis.
Work in progress is only included in
revenue to the extent that it is highly
probable that the cumulative amount
of revenue recognised in respect
to the contract at the end of the
reporting period will not be subject to
a significant reversal when the matter
is concluded.
A receivable in relation to these
services is recognised when a bill
is raised and issued, as this is the
point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before
payment is due.
vi. Provision of legal services –
Commercial
The entity earns revenue from the
provision of general legal services
incorporating commercial employment
and property. Revenue for general
legal services is recognised over
time in the accounting period when
services are rendered.
Fee arrangements from Commercial
legal services are unconditional fee
for service arrangements (“Time and
Materials”).
In fee for service arrangements
revenue is recognised up to the
amount of fees the entity is entitled to
invoice for services performed to date
based on contracted rates.
Work in progress is only included in
revenue to the extent that it is highly
probable that the cumulative amount
of revenue recognised in respect
to the contract at the end of the
reporting period will not be subject to
a significant reversal when the matter
is concluded.

Notes to the
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A receivable in relation to these
services is recognised when a bill
is raised and issued, as this is the
point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before
payment is due.
vii. Provision of legal services –
Litigation
Revenue from the provision of litigation
legal advice is recognised over the
time that the services are performed
on a time and material basis.
Fee arrangements from litigation
legal services include unconditional
fee for service arrangements (“Time
and Materials”) and variable or
contingent fee arrangements for some
commercial litigation services. Work
in progress is only included in revenue
to the extent that it is highly probable
that the cumulative amount of revenue
recognised in respect to the contract
at the end of the reporting period will
not be subject to a significant reversal
when the matter is concluded.
A receivable in relation to these
services is recognised when a bill
is raised and issued, as this is the
point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before
payment is due.
No changes to revenue recognition
were identified under AASB 15.
viii. Medicines information –
maintenance contracts
Revenue from medicines information
maintenance contracts is recognised
as performance obligations are
satisfied over time, by reference to the
stage of completion of a contract or
contracts in progress at the balance
sheet date. Stage of completion
is measured by reference to the
date that each annual maintenance
contract expires.
Revenue derived from all ad hoc
document changes is recognised
once the amended documents have
been released for distribution to
external parties.

ix. Guildcare subscriptions revenue
Revenue from subscriptions contracts
is recognised as performance
obligations are satisfied over time,
which is on a straight-line basis
over the term of contract, in line
with the timing as to when the
customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits of the services.
x. Reinsurance Commissions
Reinsurance Commissions represent
income received from Reinsurers (in
the form of an operating cost recovery)
as a direct result of Guild Insurance
Limited obtaining reinsurance across its
portfolio to reduce its overall exposure.
Reinsurance Commission is an agreed
percentage based on the total proportion
of ceded premium to the reinsurer. Where
applicable, reinsurance commission
revenue is subject to the achievement of a
specific level of profitability of the reinsured
portfolio in a given financial/underwriting
year. The pattern of recognition aligns
to the policy or indemnity period and is
earned adopting the 365ths method
xi. Agency Commissions
Agency Commission represents income
received from Guild Early Learning Pty
Ltd which is an authorised representative
of Guild Insurance Limited to underwrite
Workers Compensation Insurance.
Commission received is based on a set
percentage of the total gross written
premium in a financial year for the specific
scheme underwritten. Placing business
as an agent for GEL would be the
performance obligation for the agency
commission. Once the business has been
placed the commission can start earning
adopting the 365ths method.
xii. Transaction prices
The Company’s customer contracts may
include multiple performance obligations.
In these cases, the Company allocates
the transaction price to each performance
obligation based on the relative standalone selling prices of each distinct
service. Stand-alone selling prices are
determined based on prices charged to
customers for individual products and
services, taking into consideration the

size and length of contracts and the
Company's overall go-to-market strategy.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised as interest
accrues using the effective interest
method when the Group has control of the
right to receive the interest payment.
g. Fire service levy and other charges
A liability for fire service levy and other
charges is recognised on business written
to the reporting date. Levies and charges
payable are expensed on the same basis
as the recognition of premium revenue,
with the portion relating to unearned
premium being recorded as a prepayment.
h. Reinsurance and other recoveries
receivable
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
on paid claims, reported claims not yet
paid and IBNRs are recognised as revenue.
Recoveries receivable are assessed in
a manner similar to the assessment of
outstanding claims. Recoveries receivable
are measured as the present value of the
expected future receipts.
i. Outwards reinsurance premium
expense
The Group cedes insurance risk in the
normal course of business. Premium
ceded to reinsurers is recognised as an
expense in accordance with the pattern of
reinsurance service received. Accordingly,
a portion of outwards reinsurance
premium is treated as a prepayment
and presented as deferred outwards
reinsurance expense on the balance sheet
at the reporting date.
j. Deferred acquisition costs
Those direct and indirect costs incurred
during the financial period arising from the
writing or renewing of insurance contracts
are deferred to the extent that these costs
are recoverable out of future premiums.
All other acquisition costs are recognised
as an expense when incurred.
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Deferred acquisition costs are amortised
systematically in accordance with the
expected pattern of the incidence of risk
under the general insurance contracts
to which they relate. This pattern of
amortisation corresponds to the earning
pattern of the corresponding premium
revenue.

reported (IBNER), claims incurred but not
reported (IBNR) and the anticipated direct
and indirect claims handling costs. The
liability is discounted to present value
using a risk free rate.

k. Liability adequacy test

The estimation of the outstanding
claims liability involves a number of key
assumptions and is the most critical
accounting estimate. All reasonable
steps are taken to ensure that the
information used regarding claims
exposure is appropriate. However,
given the uncertainty in establishing the
liability, it is likely that the final outcome
will be different from the original liability
established. Changes in claims estimates
are recognised in profit or loss in the
reporting period in which the estimates are
changed.

Liability adequacy testing is performed
in order to recognise any deficiencies in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income
arising from the carrying amount of the
unearned premium liability less any related
deferred acquisition costs and intangible
assets not meeting the estimated future
claims under current insurance contracts.
The estimated future claims under current
insurance contracts are measured
using the present value of the expected
cash flows relating to future claims and
associated expenses (discounted using a
risk free discount rate) plus an additional
fair value risk margin to reflect the inherent
uncertainty of those estimated cash flows.
Any deficiency arising from the test is
recognised in the profit or loss with the
corresponding impact on the balance
sheet recognised first through the write
down of deferred acquisition costs for the
relevant portfolio of contracts, with any
remaining balance being recognised on
the balance sheet as an unexpired risk
liability.
Liability adequacy testing is performed at
the level of a portfolio of contracts that
are subject to broadly similar risks and are
managed together as a single portfolio.
l. Claims liabilities
The outstanding claims liability is
measured as the central estimate of the
present value of expected future payments
relating to claims incurred at the reporting
date with an additional risk margin to
allow for the inherent uncertainty in the
central estimate. The liability is measured
based on the valuation performed by the
Appointed Actuary. The expected future
payments include those in relation to
claims reported but not yet paid or not yet
paid in full, claims incurred but not enough
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Claims expense represents claim
payments adjusted for the movement in
the outstanding claims liability.

m. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand available on demand
and deposits held at call with financial
institutions. Cash and cash equivalents
are measured at amortised cost, being the
principal amount. For the purposes of the
cash flow statement, cash also includes
other highly liquid investments not subject
to significant risk of change in value, with
short periods to maturity, net of any bank
overdraft.
n. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at
fair value plus transaction costs and then
subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method,
less impairment. Collectability of trade
receivables is reviewed on an on-going
basis at an operating unit level. Individual
debts that are known to be uncollectible
are written off when identified. An
impairment provision is recognised when
there is objective evidence that the entity
will not be able to collect the receivable.
Financial difficulties of the debtor, default
payments or debts greater than trade
terms are considered objective evidence
of impairment.

o. Work in progress – contracts with
customers
Work in progress represents client cases
which have not yet reached a conclusion
and comprises of insurance claims,
commercial claims and commercial
litigation. Amounts ultimately owed to
Meridian Lawyers are valued at the lower
of cost and net realisable value, as fees
are not rendered on matters until either
the completion of a particular task or time
period.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale. The following methodologies
are used in determining the value of work
completed:
Time Recording
Contracts for general and commercial law
matters are billed based on time spent
by a professional and is recorded against
the matter at an agreed hourly rate. As
permitted under AASB 15 Revenue from
Contracts with customers, the transaction
price allocated to the unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied performance
obligations under these contracts has not
been disclosed.
Estimated Fees Earned
Work in progress reflects the time
recorded against each matter as at a
particular date and is used as a guide in
determining the professional and other
fees that will ultimately be rendered to
the relevant client, which is accrued and
held as a receivable in the Statement of
Financial Position.
Recognition of revenue
Work in progress in only included in
revenue to the extent that it is highly
probable that the cumulative amount
of revenue recognised in respect to the
contract at the end of the reporting period
will not be subject to a significant reversal
when the matter is concluded.
p. Investments
Investments comprise assets held to
back insurance liabilities (also referred
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to as policyholder funds) and assets
that represent shareholders’ funds.
Investments that back insurance liabilities
include fixed interest deposits, investments
in unit trusts and amounts receivable in
respect of hire purchase arrangements
and investment loans. All investments are
managed, and performance evaluated
on a fair value basis for both external and
internal reporting purposes in accordance
with a documented investment policy.
Except for loans and receivables, all
other investments are designated as fair
value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition. They are initially recorded at
fair value (being the cost of acquisition
excluding transaction costs) and are
subsequently remeasured to fair value
at each reporting date. Changes in the
fair value from the previous reporting
date (or cost of acquisition excluding
transaction costs if acquired during the
financial period) are recognised as realised
or unrealised investment gains or losses
in profit or loss. Purchases and sales of
investments are recognised on a trade
date basis being the date on which a
commitment is made to purchase or sell
the asset. Transaction costs for purchases
of investments are expensed as incurred
and presented in the statement of
comprehensive income as investment
expenses on assets backing policyholder
funds and fees based, corporate and
other expenses for investments that
represent shareholder funds. investments
are derecognised when the rights to
receive future cash flows from the assets
have expired or have been transferred and
substantially all the risk and rewards of
ownership have transferred.
For securities traded in an active market,
fair value is determined by reference
to published bid price quotations. For
unlisted unit trusts this generally means
using the net asset value provided by the
trustee. For investments not traded in
active market, the fair value is determined
using appropriate valuation techniques
based on Guild’s proportion of net assets.
Investment revenue, comprising dividends,
trust distributions and interest, is brought
to account on an accrual basis. Revenue

on investment in equity securities and unit
trusts is deemed to accrue on the date the
dividends/distributions are declared, which
for listed equity securities is deemed to be
the ex-dividend date. Dividend revenue
from Australian equities is received net of
any franking credits.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
investments with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Such assets are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired.
These are included in current assets,
except for those with maturities greater
than 12 months after reporting date, which
are classified as non-current. Amortised
cost approximates to fair value.
q. Property, plant and equipment
Cost and valuation
Plant and equipment is stated at
historical cost, net of accumulated
depreciation and/or any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the item.
Depreciation is calculated on a straightline basis over the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:
Leasehold improvements
over the terms of the various leases
Fixtures and fittings
2-13 years
The residual values, useful lives,
impairment and amortisation methods are
reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at
each financial year end.
An item of property, plant and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or when
no further future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal.
r. Right of use assets
Right-of-use assets are initially recorded
at cost which is the fair value of
consideration provided plus incidental
costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Depreciation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate

the cost of assets less any residual value
over the estimated useful economic life,
which ranges between 2 – 10 years.
Payments associated with short-term
leases of property, motor vehicles and
equipment are recognised on a straightline basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases have a lease term of 12
months or less.
The Group recognises its operating
leases of equipment, motor vehicles and
property as Right-of-use assets from 1
July 2019.
s. Goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost,
being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling
interest over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If this
consideration is lower than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised in
profit or loss.
After initial recognition, goodwill is
measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash generating units that are
expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to
those units.
Intangible Asset – System
development costs
An intangible asset arising from
development expenditure on an internal
project is recognised only when the Group
can demonstrate:
> The technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use;
> Its intention to complete and its ability
to use the asset;
> How the asset will generate future
economic benefits;
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> The availability of resources to
complete the asset;
> The ability to measure reliably
the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its
development.
Following the initial recognition of
the development expenditure as an
asset, the asset is carried at cost
less any accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation of the asset begins when
development is complete and the asset is
available for use. It is amortised over the
period of expected future benefit (5 year
period for Guidewire Insurance System,
5 year period for Digital Platforms, 10
years for practice management software).
Amortisation is recorded in operating
expenses.
t. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are carried at
amortised cost and due to their shortterm nature they are not discounted.
They represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the
end of the financial year that are unpaid
and arise when the Group becomes
obliged to make future payments in
respect of the purchase of these goods
and services. The amounts are unsecured
and are usually paid within 30 to 90 days
of recognition.
u. Lease liabilities
Liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured as the present value of lease
payments over the term of the agreement
that are not paid at that date. Lease
liabilities include the following lease
payments:
> Fixed payments (including insubstance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable; and
> variable lease payments that are
based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date. At 30 June
2021 the Group did not have any
variable lease payments.
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The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If
that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that
the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment
with similar terms, security and conditions.
The Group has also elected not to
recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities
for leases of low-value assets (i.e. <
$5,000) and short-term leases (i.e. < 12
months). Options (extension / termination)
on lease contracts are considered on a
case by case basis following a regular
management assessment. When an
agreement includes an option to extend
the lease term, Guild Insurance Limited
assesses the probability of renewing
the lease and includes the renewal
term in the ROU asset and lease liability
measurement where the option to extend
the lease is reasonably certain.
The Company has used one single
Incremental Borrowing Rate (IBR) for
a portfolio of leases having similar risk
characteristics updated twice yearly at
31 December and 30 June. The lease
liabilities were discounted at the reference
rate as at 1 July 2021, which was 3.71%.
v. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the
Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
When the Group expects some or all
of a provision to be reimbursed, for
example under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognised as
a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to any provision
is presented in the statement of
comprehensive income net of any
reimbursement.

Liabilities, including non-monetary benefits
expected to be settled within 12 months
of the reporting date are recognised up to
the reporting date. They are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when
the liabilities are settled. Expected future
payments are discounted using market
yields at the reporting date on national
government bonds with terms to maturity
that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.
w. Interest bearing borrowings
All borrowings are initially recognised at
fair value of the consideration received
less directly attributable transaction costs.
After initial recognition, interest bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised costs using the effective
interest method. Borrowings are classified
as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting date.
Borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense when incurred.
x. Income tax and other taxes
Current income tax assets and liabilities
for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities. The tax rates and laws used
to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
Deferred tax is provided using the liability
method on temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes at the reporting date.
Deferred income tax liabilities are
recognised for all taxable temporary
differences except when the deferred
income tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or of a right-ofuse asset or lease liability arising from
initial adoption of AASB 16, or of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary differences, the
carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised except when the deferred
income tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of a right-of-use asset or
lease liability arising from initial adoption
of AASB 16, or of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss.
The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets is reviewed at each reporting date
and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each reporting date and
are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that the future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

group allocation approach in determining
the appropriate amount of current taxes
and deferred taxes to allocate to members
of the tax consolidated group.

Limited has been accounted for using
business combination under common
control.

In addition to its own current and deferred
tax amounts, Guild Group Holdings
Limited also recognises the current
liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits assumed from
controlled entities in the tax consolidated
group.

3.

Assets or liabilities arising under the
tax funding agreements with the tax
consolidated entities are recognised as
amounts receivable from or payable to
other entities in the Group.
Goods and services tax (‘GST’)
Revenues, expenses and assets are
recognised net of the amount of GST
except where the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of the acquisition of the
asset or as part of the expense item as
applicable.
Receivables and payables are stated
with the amount of GST included. The
net amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the taxation authority
is included as part of receivables or
payables in the Statement of Financial
Position.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
reported on a net basis as per AASB
112.74.

Cash flows are included in the Statement
of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the
GST component of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities,
which is recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority is classified as part
of operating cash flows.

Tax consolidation legislation

y. Contributed equity

Guild Group Holdings Limited and its
wholly owned Australian controlled
entities implemented the tax consolidation
legislation as of 1 July 2003.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable
to the issue of new shares are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

The head entity, Guild Group Holdings
Limited and the controlled entities in
the tax consolidated group continue to
account for their own current and deferred
tax amounts. The Group has applied the

z. Business combination under
common control
The acquisition of Gold Cross Products
and Services Pty Ltd by Guild Insurance

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Risk Management Framework (‘RMF’)
The Guild Group has a formally approved
RMF in place that describes the strategies
and approach for effectively identifying,
assessing and managing material risk
across the organisation. The Group’s RMF
is considered an enterprise wide capability
in that it is a fully integrated and active
process within all Group entities, business
lines and support service functional areas.
The presence of the RMF supports the
Group’s belief that having an effective
risk management framework in place is
considered a critical element in supporting
the organisation meet its strategic and
operational goals.
The RMF details the layers of managerial
responsibility, risk management related
policies and the key processes used
to identify, assess, monitor, report on
and mitigate all material risks that have
the potential (if realised) to impact the
Group achieving its strategic objectives.
The Board has delegated its authority
for the oversight of the RMF to the Risk
Management & Compliance Committee.
In turn the Risk Management &
Compliance Committee works closely
with the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’),
the Chief Risk Officer (‘CRO’) and the
dedicated risk management function to
ensure that the RMF remains appropriate
and effective. The CRO is charged with
overall functional responsibility for the
RMF and risk management capability.
The Group’s Executive Leadership
Team also assists the CEO by providing
additional support to ensure the
management of risk, within established
risk appetite parameters, is appropriately
maintained across the Group.
A major element of the RMF is the
Group’s formally approved Risk Appetite
Statement (‘RAS’) which is an overall
declaration regarding the amount and
type of risk that the Group is prepared to
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accept in order to achieve its strategic
and operational objectives. The RAS
has been developed by incorporating
the expectations of various Group
stakeholders and has resulted in risks
considered material to the Group having
specific risk tolerance limits established
that form the basis for ongoing Board
governance reporting and oversight.
The RMF is also reflected in the Risk
Management Strategies (“RMSs”) in place
that describe the specific processes
for managing risks considered material
to the Group’s general insurance and
superannuation trustee licensed entities.
In conjunction with the application of
the RMF, the risks currently considered
material to the Group are discussed below.
a. Governance risk
Governance risk involves any risks
associated with insufficient or ineffective
processes being in place to ensure
appropriate oversight and decision making
within the Group. This includes a lack
of transparency over decision-making
processes, conflicts of interest, fitness
& propriety issues, delegation of roles
and responsibilities, and remuneration
structures.
Key controls for mitigating
Governance Risk
> The Group has a governance
framework in place that includes
director education, Board Charters,
Board renewal processes, Board
Remuneration Committee & Policy,
conflicts recognition and a company
secretariat function. Delegations of
Authority have also been established
and formally approved by the Board.
> Risk Management & Compliance
Committee and an Audit Committee is
in place that operates under a formal
Terms of Reference and delegation
from the Board.
> A Fit & Proper Policy is in place that
provides the establishment and
monitoring processes for the Group’s
regulator mandated Responsible
Persons.
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> A Conflicts Management Framework
is in place that includes policies
for Conflicts of Interest and Gifts &
Entertainment.
> A Whistle-blower Policy is in place
that informs employees of the Whistleblower hotline and how to make a
confidential report of any areas of
concern. The purpose of the policy is
to encourage the reporting of matters
that may cause financial/non-financial
loss or damage our reputation.
b. Strategic & tactical risk
Strategic and Tactical risk refers to
any risks that may impact the Group
as a result of strategic initiatives and/
or the business plan being inadequately
established or coordinated. This risk also
includes issues concerning business
efficiency, product or service design,
and association, broker and/or client
relationship maintenance.
Key controls for mitigating Strategic
& Tactical Risk
> The Group’s Strategic Business Plan
is reviewed and formally approved by
the Board annually. Regular reporting
to the Board occurs regarding actual
performance against the Strategic
Business Plan.
> Strategic/continuous improvement
initiatives are underway that are
intended to improve business efficiency
across the Group.
> The Strategic Business Plan includes
specific customer focus and the
Group’s value proposition is also
aligned to client expectations.
> Regular competitor analysis
is conducted and market
competitiveness is also considered
during the Group’s business pricing
process.
> A tiered model is in place to facilitate
key relationship engagement occurring
on a regular basis.
c. Capital management risk
Capital management risk relates to the
potential for financial issues occurring that

may be amplified by the Group’s inability
to access capital, and/or that the Group’s
current capital adequacy requirements are
being adversely impacted.
Key controls for mitigating Capital
Management Risk
> The Group has a formally approved
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process (ICAAP) Summary Statement
that identifies and documents the
policies, procedures, systems and
controls in place to manage associated
capital related risks and to ensure that
capital is held commensurate with the
relevant level of risk. The ICAAP also
articulates the Group’s strategy for
maintaining adequate capital over time,
including the setting of capital targets
that are consistent with the Group’s
risk profile, its risk appetite and the
relevant regulatory requirements.
> Calculations occur monthly to
monitor the adequacy of capital being
maintained within a specified risk
appetite range and these calculations
are also reported to the Board quarterly
for appropriate governance oversight.
> Capital management processes and
calculations are subject to review by
the Group’s Appointed Actuary.
d. Insurance risk
Insurance risk is the risk of financial loss
and the inability to meet liabilities due to
inadequate or inappropriate insurance
product design, pricing, underwriting,
concentration risk, reserving, claims
management and/or reinsurance
management. The principal risk
associated with any insurance contract
is the possibility of the insured event
occurring and the uncertainty of the
amount of the resulting claim.
Key controls for mitigating
Insurance Risk
To mitigate the impact of insurance risk,
the entity has the RAS, ICAAP summary
statement, RMF, RMSs as well as the
following key policies and procedures
in place:
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Selection and Pricing of Risk
> Underwriting authority is delegated
to experienced underwriters following
a detailed analysis of each class
of business being underwritten by
the Group.
> Implementation and annual review of
underwriting guidelines and criteria
covering the classes of risk the Group
is authorised to underwrite.
> Maximum limits are set for the
acceptance of risk on an individual
contract basis, for classes of business
and across the portfolio with particular
attention paid to geographic exposure,
industry segment and the Group’s risk
appetite and tolerance.
> Management information systems are
used to provide current reliable and
accurate data about the various risks
being underwritten by the business.
> In-house pricing models are formulated
and monitored by the analytics unit
within the Insurance division using
historical pricing and statistical data
as well as claims analysis for each
portfolio. Economic data and industry
information is gathered to ensure
underwriters are aware of current
developments and prevailing conditions
in the markets being underwritten
and the expected future trends facing
those markets.
> An Underwriting Committee is in place
to oversee, investigate and determine
the processes necessary to address
the pricing of insurance products,
and also to provide strategic direction
in relation to the management of
insurance portfolios.
Concentration Risk
> Relevant risk appetite parameters are
in place requiring the diversification of
the insurance portfolio across classes,
industries and regions. Concentration
exposure is monitored on a regular
basis ensuring the portfolio is
sufficiently diversified such that there is
no undue concentration by risk class or
by industry.

> The Group also writes business across
broad geographical regions within
Australia and regular reviews are
undertaken to gauge the applicable
geographic accumulation exposure.
> Catastrophe reinsurance is purchased
to ensure that any accumulation of
losses from one area is protected.
> Concentration risk is particularly
relevant on the occurrence of a
catastrophic event. Typically these are
weather-related but can also be manmade such as industrial accidents and
infrastructure collapse. The nature and
level of catastrophes in any one year
cannot be accurately anticipated but
the Group uses predictive modelling in
conjunction with its reinsurance broker
to monitor its exposure.
> An Insurance Strategy is in place that
defines catastrophe cover parameters.
Such parameters also form part of the
Group’s risk appetite criteria.
Claims Management and Reserving
> Experienced claims officers are used
to assess the claim and determine a
case strategy. Where necessary, they
are assisted by subject matter experts.
It is the Group’s policy to respond to
and resolve genuine claims as quickly
as possible in accordance with the
provisions of the policy.
> Claims reserves are established by
local knowledge from claims officers,
underwriters and specialist advisors.
The Appointed Actuary provides
an independent assessment of the
provision at least semi-annually.
> The risk of the liability being inadequate
is monitored by way of half-yearly
actuarial valuation and mitigated by the
inclusion of a risk margin to increase
the probability of sufficiency of the
reserves to at least 90%.
Reinsurance Management
> Clearly defined credit policies for the
approval and management of credit risk
in relation to reinsurers are in place.
> The entity monitors the financial

condition of its reinsurers on an ongoing
basis and periodically reviews the
reinsurers’ ability to fulfil their obligations
to the entity under respective existing
and future reinsurance contracts. In order
to assess this, the entity uses rating
information available in the public domain
or gathered through other investigations.
> Reinsurance recoveries are also
monitored and managed internally
involving engagement with specialised
reinsurance brokers operating in the
international reinsurance market.
> The entity only deals with reinsurers
with credit ratings of at least A- as
determined by Standard & Poor’s
(“S&P”) or AM Best equivalent. Where
the credit rating of a reinsurer falls below
the required quality during the period of
risk, a contractual right to replace the
counterparty exists. Having reinsurance
protection with strong reinsurers also
benefits the entity in its regulatory capital
calculations. The risk charges vary with
the grade of reinsurers such that higher
credit quality reinsurance counterparties
incur lower APRA regulatory capital
charges.
> Reinsurance is used to limit the
entity’s exposure to individual claims
and catastrophes. Guild Insurance
calculates its insurance concentration
risk charge (“ICRC”) regularly and
purchases reinsurance to limit its
exposure accordingly within the entity’s
risk appetite.
> A Capital (Reinsurance & Investments)
Committee is also in place that meets
regularly to review the adequacy and
effectiveness of the entity’s reinsurance
program.
> Reinsurance contracts include
catastrophe excess of loss, property
per risk excess of loss, casualty excess
of loss, facultative, quota share and
the run off of previous quota share and
surplus reinsurance arrangements.
> The Reinsurance program and risk
tolerances are subject to the principles
set out in the Reinsurance Management
Strategy (ReMS).
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Terms and Conditions of insurance
business
> The entity develops contract terms that
are specific to each product written.
There are no specific contract terms
and conditions that are expected to
have a material impact on the financial
report.
e. Asset (investment) risk
The risk of unfavorable changes in interest
rates, equity prices, credit spreads,
commodity prices and investment market
volatilities. It also includes the risk that the
Group will be unable to service its cash
flow obligations today or in the future.
Key controls for mitigating Asset
(Investment) Risk
> To mitigate risks associated with
investments, an Investment Policy is
in place that provides restrictions for
risk appetite and liability matching,
transaction supervision, defined monthly
and exception reporting processes.

2021

> A Capital (Reinsurance & Investments)
Committee is also in place to regularly
review investment strategy, performance
and compliance with the Investment
Policy.
The Group is exposed to mainly the
following categories of investment risks –
liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk
and equity price risk. The key controls for
mitigating these risks are outlined below.
f. Investment – liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is concerned with the risk
of there being insufficient cash resources
to meet payment obligations without
affecting the daily operations of the
financial condition of the Group. Liquidity
facilitates the ability to meet expected and
unexpected requirements for cash.
Key Controls for mitigating Liquidity Risk
> Investment portfolio mandates and
policy provide sufficient cash deposits to
meet day-to-day obligations.
> Investment funds set aside within
the portfolio can be realised to meet

< 6 Months
$’000

significant claims payment obligations.
> In the event of a catastrophe, immediate
cash access once retention limit is
reached is available under the terms of
reinsurance arrangements.
> Financing facility with set limits for loans,
leasing and guarantees.
> Regular monitoring of liquidity levels.
A maturity analysis of the Group’s cash,
trade receivables, investments and
reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
by contractual maturity is provided in
the following table along with maturity
analysis of trade payables, interest bearing
loans and the estimated net discounted
outstanding claims liability based on the
remaining term to payment at the reporting
date.
This maturity profile is a key tool used in
the investment of assets backing insurance
liabilities in accordance with the policy
of matching the maturity profile of the
assets with the estimated pattern of claims
payments.

6 – 12 Months
$’000

1 – 5 Years
$’000

>5 Years
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

55,167

-

-

-

55,167

Trade and other receivables

135,688

1,200

-

-

136,888

Investments
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

7,349

22,235

173,515

124,304

327,403

15,603

3,694

14,069

336

33,702

213,807

27,129

187,584

124,640

553,160

28,481

8,327

-

-

36,808

3,291

4,022

8,344

-

-

17,252

-

17,252

106,032

34,275

143,235

3,836

287,378

137,803

46,624

168,831

3,836

357,095

76,003

(19,495)

18,753

120,804

196,065

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings
Claims liabilities
Net maturity
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2020

Consolidated

< 6 Months
$’000

6 – 12 Months
$’000

1 – 5 Years
$’000

>5 Years
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

35,727

-

-

-

35,727

Trade and other receivables

98,014

993

-

-

99,077

Investments

14,601

18,679

161,543

125,543

319,877

Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

13,194

3,759

12,762

294

30,009

161,536

23,431

174,305

125,348

484,620

20,372

5,096

-

-

25,468

3,000

3,667

18,214

-

24,881

-

-

16,840

-

16,840

59,951

28,069

146,296

4,626

238,942

83,323

36,832

181,350

4,626

306,131

78,213

(13,401)

(7,045)

120,722

178,489

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings
Claims liabilities
Net maturity

g. Investment – credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss from
a counterparty failing to discharge an
obligation within agreed terms. The entity’s
credit risk arises predominantly from trade
receivables, reinsurance recoveries and
investments.
Key controls for mitigating Credit Risk
To mitigate the impact of credit risk, the
Group has the following key policies and
procedures in place:
Trade Receivables
> Trade (including premiums) receivables
are mostly due direct from the client
or insurance brokers with a proportion
coming from monthly instalments. Late
premium payments will result in the
cancellation of the insurance contract
with the policy holder, eliminating both
the credit risk and insurance risk for the
unpaid balance.
> The maximum exposure to credit
risk as at reporting date is indicated
by the carrying amounts of the trade
receivables on the Statement of
Financial Position, with the ageing in
Note 9.

> A Debtor Management policy is in
place that outlines the appropriate
processes and procedures for staff
dealing with the management of
debtors.
Reinsurance Recoveries
> Reinsurance arrangements are
monitored and managed internally
and by specialised reinsurance
brokers operating in the international
reinsurance market. Concentration of
credit risk is mitigated by placement
of cover with a number of reinsurers
of at least A- rating as determined by
Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) or AM Best
equivalent.
Investments
> Investments in financial instruments
in the investment portfolio are held in
accordance with the Investment Policy.
Credit and counterparty limits have
been established within the policy to
ensure counterparties have appropriate
credit ratings and that concentration
risk is minimised. The Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by investing
with various counterparties that have

an S&P credit rating of AA or better.
The credit risk relating to investments is
monitored and assessed regularly.
> The Group is exposed to credit risk
from investments in fixed term deposits
with Australian banks which are
regulated by APRA. The maximum
exposure to credit risk as at reporting
date is the carrying amounts of the
investments in the Statement of
Financial Position as they are measured
at fair value.
> The Group does not hold any credit
derivatives to offset its credit exposure.
The following table provides information
regarding the credit risk exposure of the
Group to trade receivables, reinsurance
recoveries and investments.
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Neither past-due nor impaired
Investment
grade
$’000

2021

Grade
satisfactory
$’000

Past-due but
not impaired
$’000

Total
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

55,167

-

-

55,167

Interest bearing investments

238,933

88,470

-

327,403
136,888

Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Total credit risk exposure

-

127,715

9,172

33,702

-

-

33,702

327,802

216,185

9,173

553,160

2020
Cash and cash equivalents

35,727

-

-

35,727

Interest bearing investments

222,447

97,430

-

319,877

Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Total credit risk exposure

-

105,162

7,839

113,001

30,009

-

-

30,009

288,183

202,592

7,839

498,614

< 30 days
$’000

31 to 60 days
$’000

61 to 90 days
$’000

91+ days
$’000

Total pastdue but not
impaired
$’000

Trade and other receivables

-

3,760

2,440

2,973

9,173

Total credit risk exposure

-

3,760

2,440

2,973

9,173

Trade and other receivables

-

2,724

2,546

2,570

7,840

Total credit risk exposure

-

2,724

2,546

2,570

7,840

2021

2020

h. Investment – interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss arising
from an unfavourable movement in market
interest rates. Fixed interest rate assets
and liabilities create exposure to fair value
interest rate risk which is a market risk.
Financial assets and liabilities with floating
interest rates create exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk.
Key controls for mitigating Interest Rate
Risk – Assets
> Exposure to interest rate risk is
monitored through several measures
that include position limits, scenario
testing, stress testing, and asset and
liability matching using measures such
as duration.
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Key controls for mitigating Interest Rate
Risk – Liabilities
> The Group has a policy of investing
in assets backing insurance liabilities
principally in fixed interest securities
broadly matched to the expected
payment pattern of the insurance
liabilities. Movements in investment
income on assets backing insurance
liabilities broadly offset the impact of
movements in discount rates on the
insurance liabilities.
> Interest bearing liabilities (bank loans)
are exposed to interest rate risk but
as they are measured at amortised
cost they therefore do not expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.
In addition, interest bearing liabilities
bearing fixed interest rates reduce the
entity's exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk.

Sensitivity Analysis
The sensitivity analysis provided in the
following table demonstrates the effect of
a change in a key assumption while other
assumptions remain unchanged. The
investments in interest bearing securities
are recognised on the balance sheet at
fair value. Movements in market interest
rates impact the price of the securities
(and hence their fair value measurement)
and so would impact profit. The impact
from the measurement of the interest
bearing securities held at reporting date
of a change in interest rates at reporting
date by +1% or -1% on profit after tax, is
shown in the table below.
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Financial assets – interest bearing securities

i. Investment – equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair
value of equities decreases as a result of
changes in market prices, whether those
changes are caused by factors specific
to individual stocks or factors affecting all
instruments in the market.

Operational risk is the risk of financial
loss (including lost opportunities) resulting
from external events and/or inadequate or
failed internal processes, wherein people
and systems fail to perform as required.
Operational risk can have overlaps with all
of the other risk categories. When controls
fail, operational risk events can cause
injury, damage to reputation, have legal
or regulatory implications or can lead to
financial loss. The Group cannot expect
to eliminate all operational risks, but
manages these by initiating an appropriate
control framework and by monitoring and
responding to potential risks, and thereby
minimise exposure to such risks.
Key controls for mitigating
Operational Risk
> In conjunction with the various
policies and processes that make up
the Group’s RMF, the identification,

2020
$’000

Post Tax Profit

Post Tax Profit

+1%

6,570

5,759

-1%

(6,570)

(5,759)

Key controls for mitigating Equity
Price Risk
> To limit equity price risk, the Group
invests in a diversified Australian shares
trust in accordance with limits set by
the Board. The majority of the equity
investments within the trust are of a
high quality and are publicly traded on
the ASX 300 Index.

Financial assets – unlisted unit trust

j. Operational risk

2021
$’000

> Risk appetite parameters have been
established defining the upper and
lower limits for equity asset allocation
for the Group’s Guild Insurance entity.
Sensitivity Analysis
The impact from the measurement of the
investments held at reporting date of a
change in equity values at reporting date
by +10% or -10% on profit after tax, is
shown in the table below.

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Post Tax Profit

Post Tax Profit

+10%

4,236

5,007

-10%

(4,236)

(5,007)

assessment, management and
monitoring of operational risk is
regularly performed. In addition to this,
the RMSs & ICAAP (incorporating the
Group’s Capital Management Plan)
also include specific consideration of
operational risk being identified and
assessed on an ongoing basis.
> Management and staff are responsible
for identifying, assessing and managing
operational risks in accordance with
their roles and responsibilities and the
Group also has a designated Risk,
Audit & Compliance function that
monitors processes and procedures
involving the management of
operational risk.
k. Regulatory risk
Regulatory risk is the risk of legal or
regulatory sanctions, financial loss, or loss
to reputation which the entity may suffer
as a result of its failure to comply with all

applicable regulations, codes of conduct
and good practice standards.
Key controls for mitigating
Regulatory Risk
> In conjunction with the various licences
and regulatory obligations that the
Group operates under, Compliance
Plans have been developed for all
Group licensed entities and attestations
are obtained regularly from the
business confirming adherence with the
obligations noted in the Compliance
Plans. Any breach (potential or actual)
of a regulatory obligation, will be
managed by the Group’s established
incident management process that
forms part of the RMF.
> Commensurate with the Group
operating within the heavily regulated
Australian financial services industry,
the Group’s Risk, Audit & Compliance
function facilitates a process whereby
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any regulatory change resulting from
new or amended legislation/regulation
will be identified, assessed and
the appropriate areas of the Group
engaged to ensure the changes are
addressed as necessary.
l. Outsourcing risk
Outsourcing risk is the risk of material
service providers and/or external third
party suppliers being poorly selected and/
or failing to meet their obligations under
the outsourced arrangements, including
in respect to adequacy of resources,
resulting in material loss, or significant
reputational damage or regulatory action.
Key controls for mitigating
Outsourcing Risk
> A Vendor Management framework is in
place to establish the discipline behind
the process of working with vendors,
controlling costs and increasing value,
while ensuring quality and mitigating
risks. It also assists in promoting a
productive and successful relationship
between both parties.
> An Outsourcing policy describes the
framework and processes for ensuring
that all risks arising from outsourcing
material business activities are being
appropriately managed. The policy,
along with its associated policies, is
considered a key part of the RMF.

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

4 (a) – COVID-19 related potential
Business Interruption claims
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has
increased the estimation uncertainty
in the preparation of these financial
statements. The Group has developed
various accounting estimates in these
financial statements based on forecasts
of economic conditions which reflect
expectations and assumptions as at
30 June 2021 about future events that
the Directors believe are reasonable
in the circumstances. There is a
considerable degree of judgement
involved in preparing these forecasts.
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The underlying assumptions are also
subject to uncertainties which are often
outside the control of the Company.
Accordingly, actual economic conditions
may be different from those forecast
since anticipated events may not occur
as expected, and the effect of those
differences may significantly impact
accounting estimates included in these
financial statements.
An explicit allowance of $58.0m for
COVID-19 pandemic related Business
Interruption claims has been added to the
net outstanding claims provision of Guild
Insurance Limited. This is derived from
a range of scenarios and a consensus
view on the appropriate level for the
reserves recommended by management
and approved by the Board. No premium
liability for COVID-19 pandemic related
losses is considered necessary.
The provision is derived from an actuarial
model and the key assumptions in
determining the provision included
within the outstanding claims liability are
the outcome of future court cases and
policyholder actions (number of claims
received). Key assumptions in the model
have been included within the sensitivity
analysis detailed in Note 23 of the
Financial Statements.
Insurers commenced a second test
case in the Federal Court of Australia in
February 2021 to test the application of
further issues around pandemic coverage
in business interruption policies. The
second test case will determine the
meaning of policy wordings in relation to
the definition of a disease, proximity of an
outbreak to a business and prevention of
access to premises due to a government
mandate as well as other policy wording
matters. The hearing for the second
test case is expected to commence in
September 2021.
The outcome of the first test case
which was announced by the Supreme
Court of New South Wales Court of
Appeal (NSWCA) which determined that
pandemic exclusions that refer to the
Quarantine Act rather than the Biosecurity
Act, are not effective to exclude cover

for losses associated with COVID-19.
The policies that made reference to the
Quarantine Act have been used as a basis
for the sums insured exposure within the
actuarial model.
The significant accounting estimates
particularly impacted by these associated
uncertainties are predominantly related
to the valuation of the outstanding
claims liability, recoverable amount
assessments of non-financial assets, fair
value measurement of investments and
incurred losses for both non-insurance
and insurance-related receivables.
Government response to COVID-19 during
the year has led to record low interest
rates and fixed interest returns relative to
prior years. The majority of the Company’s
investment portfolio is held in fixed
income securities to match corresponding
liabilities. The balance of the portfolio is
diversified across other asset classes
which have been less responsive to
variations in the economic cycle.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
on each of these accounting estimates is
discussed further below. Readers should
carefully consider these disclosures in
light of the inherent uncertainty described
above.
4(b) – Review of Probability of
Sufficiency
Guild Insurance Limited reduced the
Probability of Sufficiency from 95% to 85%
to reflect the lower level of aggregate risk
across the portfolio through the benefits of
diversification of risk over time.
a. Ultimate liability arising from claims
made under insurance contracts
A liability is recorded at the end of the year
for the estimated cost of claims incurred
but not settled at the reporting date,
including the cost of claims incurred but
not yet reported to the Group.
The estimated net cost of claims includes
direct expenses to be incurred in settling
claims net of the expected value of
salvage and other recoveries. The Group
takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it
has appropriate information regarding its
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claims exposures. Given the uncertainty in
establishing claims liabilities, it is likely that
the final outcome will prove to be different
from the original liability established.
The estimation of claims incurred but not
reported (“IBNR”) is generally subject to
a greater degree of uncertainty than the
estimation of the cost of settling claims
already notified to the Group, where
more information about the claim event is
generally available. IBNR claims may often
not be reported until many years after the
events giving rise to the claims that have
occurred. Long-tail classes of business will
typically display greater variations between
initial estimates and final outcomes
because there is a greater degree of
difficulty in estimating IBNR reserves.
Short-tail claims are typically reported
soon after the claim event, and hence,
tend to display lower levels of volatility.
In calculating the estimated cost of
unpaid claims, the Group uses a variety
of estimation techniques, generally based
upon statistical analyses of historical
Group and industry experience that
assumes that the development pattern of
the current claims will be consistent with
past Group experience and/or general
industry benchmarks as appropriate.
Allowance is made, however, for changes
or uncertainties that may create distortions
in the underlying statistics or which might
cause the cost of unsettled claims to
increase or decrease when compared with
the cost of previously settled claims.
Details of specific actuarial techniques
and assumptions used and analysis of
the outstanding claims liabilities at the
reporting date are described in Note 23.
At each reporting date, the adequacy of
the unearned premium liability is assessed
on a net of reinsurance basis against the
present value of the expected future cash
flows relating to potential future claims,
plus a risk margin to reflect the inherent
uncertainty of the central estimate (refer
Note 23). Future claims are those claims
expected to arise from claims events
occurring after the reporting date. The
assessment is carried out using the same
methods described in Note 2(L).

AASB 1023 requires that this test be
carried out at the level of a “portfolio of
contracts that are subject to broadly
similar risks and are managed together
in a single portfolio”. As AASB 1023
does not explicitly define “broadly similar
risks” or “managed together as a single
portfolio”, the Group has interpreted these
terms in a way that reflects our day to
day approach to managing the various
risks to which the Group is exposed. The
Group’s portfolios are structured in a way
that facilitates the efficient and effective
management of our insurance businesses,
and recognises that these businesses are
subject to broadly similar risks such as
the interest and inflation rate environment,
pricing risk, credit risk, social and political
risks such as unemployment and social
unrest, and common insurance risks such
as exposure to weather-related or other
natural catastrophe risks.
The Group Actuary has modelled potential
losses for each of the primary risk classes
based on the maximum total monthly loss
and exposure to COVID-19. A range of
scenarios were developed that considered
the relative likelihood of losses occurring
in each class. A consensus view between
the Group Actuary and Management
was reached on the appropriate reserves
for both the outstanding claims liability
and premium liability for each class.
Consistent with Guild policy, the results for
the outstanding claims liability relating to
COVID-19 at the 85% level of sufficiency
and the premium liability at the 75% level
of sufficiency are estimated to increase by
$58.0m and nil respectively.
b. Assets arising from reinsurance
contracts and other recoveries
Estimates of reinsurance and other
recoveries are also determined using
the above methods. In addition, the
recoverability of these assets is assessed
on a periodic basis to ensure that the
balance is reflective of the amounts that
will ultimately be received, taking into
consideration factors such as counterparty
and credit risk. Impairment is recognised
where there is objective evidence that the
Group may not receive amounts due and
these amounts can be reliably measured.

Analysis of reinsurance recoveries is
provided in Note 10.
c. Trade debtors and other receivables
The impact of COVID-19 on the
recoverability of receivables have been
considered. While the methodologies and
assumptions applied remained unchanged
from those applied in the prior financial
year, the Company has incorporated
estimates, assumptions and judgements
specific to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic. Whilst no material recoverability
issues have been identified, there is a risk
that the economic impacts of COVID-19
could be deeper or more prolonged than
anticipated, which could result in higher
credit losses than those modelled under
the base case.
d. Annual impairment tests
The Group tests annually whether goodwill
and identifiable intangibles have suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2(R).
The recoverable amounts of cashgenerating units have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of
assumptions. Refer to Note 16 for details
of these assumptions and the potential
impact of changes to the assumptions.
e. Deferred tax assets
The Group has recognised deferred tax
assets relating to carried forward tax
losses to the extent there are sufficient
taxable temporary differences (deferred
tax liabilities) relating to the same taxation
authority against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised. However, utilisation
of the tax losses also depends on the
ability of the entity to satisfy certain tests
at the time the losses are recouped. If
the entity fails to satisfy the tests, carried
forward losses of $25,800 that are
currently recognised as deferred tax asset
would have to be written off to income
tax expense.
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f. Deferral of revenue – contracts with
customers
The Group defers revenue to a liability
balance sheet account as a contract
liability and recognises the revenue over
the contract period, consistent with the
satisfaction of performance obligations
and the recognition of revenue. The Group
re-assess the balance on a periodic
basis to reflect significant changes in the
expected timing of satisfying performance
obligations to which the liability relates.
g. Revenue recognition – revenue from
contracts with customers
Superannuation
1. Identifying the Performance
obligations
Contracts with clients generally comprise
of a single distinct performance obligation,
once the service has been provided at end
of the month and the transaction price
is allocated to this single performance
obligation. Management considers the
methods used provide a reasonable
depiction of the transfer of goods or
services.
2. Estimating the Transaction price:
The Company allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation
based on the Product Disclosure
Statement. Allocation of transaction
price is otherwise based on either daily
or monthly participation, depending on
the revenue category and the members
options.
Legal fees
1. Identifying the Performance
obligations
In insurance and commercial matters
contracts with clients generally comprise
of a single distinct performance obligation,
being the provision of services in pursuit
of the successful settlement of the client’s
claim and the transaction price is allocated
to this single performance obligation.
Some contracts contain multiple
deliverables, and, in such circumstances,
these multiple deliverables are considered
to represent a single distinct performance
obligation. Management considers the
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methods used provide a reasonable
depiction of the transfer of goods or
services.

as to when the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits of the
services.

2. Estimating the Transaction price:
Variable consideration Class Action
Arrangements

2. Estimating the Transaction price:

The entity provides various services based
on a part conditional fee arrangement. The
uncertainty around the full fees ultimately
receivable under these arrangements is
generally only fully resolved when a matter
is concluded.
Fees are only included in revenue to the
extent that it is highly probable that the
cumulative amount of revenue recognised
in respect of a contract at the end of
the reporting period will not be subject
to significant reversal when a matter is
concluded.
3. Work in Progress
Work in progress represents client cases
which have not yet reached a conclusion.
Stage of completion is measured by the
labour hours incurred valued at chargeable
hourly rates, less allowance for any
amounts expected not to be recovered,
to date compared to that expected on
completion.
Work in progress in only included in
revenue to the extent that it is highly
probable that the cumulative amount
of revenue recognised in respect to the
contract at the end of the reporting period
will not be subject to a significant reversal
when the matter is concluded.
Medicines information and
subscription revenue
1. Identifying the Performance
obligations
Contracts with medicines information
clients are recognised as performance
obligations are satisfied over time, by
reference to the stage of completion of
a contract or contracts in progress at
the reporting date. Stage of completion
is measured by reference to the date
that each annual maintenance contract
expires. Subscription revenue is
recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of contract, in line with the timing

The Group’s customer contracts may
include multiple performance obligations.
In these cases, the Company allocates
the transaction price to each performance
obligation based on the relative standalone selling prices of each distinct
service. Stand-alone selling prices are
determined based on prices charged to
customers for individual products and
services, taking into consideration the
size and length of contracts and the
Company's overall go-to-market strategy.
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2021
$’000

2020
$’000

235,639

212,952

6,229

6,298

564

463

Realised losses on financial assets

(1,064)

1,771

Unrealised losses on financial assets held at fair value

(3,006)

(4,117)

368

465

3,092

4,880

Interest income

2,508

3,123

Rebate of management services fees

1,712

1,747

620

3,130

Unrealised gains/(losses) on financial assets held at fair value

(839)

(8,233)

Distributions from unit trust

1,525

1,531

5,526

1,298

Revenue from contract with customers under AASB 15 (see below)

48,299

44,013

Reinsurance commission

20,035

3,824

4,329

5,074

72,663

52,911

17,396

14,224

4,328

4,757

5. REVENUE AND EXPENSES
Revenue
(a) Premium revenue
(b) Investment revenue on assets backing policyholder funds

Interest income
Rebate of management services fees

Distributions from unit trust

(c) Investment revenue on assets backing shareholder funds

Realised gains/(losses) on financial assets

(d) Fee and other income

Other revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers

Type of contract
		

Time and Materials - Insurance (legal fees)

		

Time and Materials - Commercial (legal fees)

		

Conditional Fee Arrangement - Class Action (legal fees)

		

Superannuation fees

		

-

397

18,846

17,426

Insurance administration

741

878

		

Subscriptions - Guildlink

3,027

2,693

		

Maintenance - Guildlink

1,716

1,806

		

Other programs - Medicines information Guildlink

964

902

		

Other programs - Guild Care

Total revenue from contracts with customers

1,281

930

48,299

44,013
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2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Gross claims - current year

150,322

131,165

Gross claims - prior years¹

(9,638)

(15,715)

5. REVENUE AND EXPENSES CONT'D
Expenses
(e) Gross claims expense

Impact of discounting

885

4,553

141,569

120,003

Reinsurance and other recoveries - current year

44,811

27,539

Reinsurance and other recoveries - prior years¹

(6,018)

912

106

(478)

38,899

27,973

Net claims - current year

105,511

103,626

Net claims - prior years¹

(3,620)

(16,628)

(f) Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue

Impact of discounting

(g) Net claims expense

Impact of discounting

779

5,031

102,670

92,031

Commissions and referral fees

24,683

20,883

Other acquisition costs

16,326

17,583

41,009

38,466

Other underwriting expenses

35,111

33,883

Fire service levy expense

10,237

8,730

45,348

42,613

619

799

(h) Acquisition costs

(i) Underwriting expenses

(j) Finance costs

Interest expenses - parent entity
(k) Other expenses

Depreciation - property, plant and equipment

716

1,033

Employee Entitlements

8,381

6,600

Amortisation of intangible assets and goodwill

1,813

1,877

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

5,621

5,574

Interest expense on lease liabilities

892

1,136

17,423

16,220

(166)

267

(l) Provisions

Doubtful debts - trade and other receivables
Doubtful debts - loans and receivables

24

17

Employee entitlements

(4,596)

(280)

Total provisions

(4,738)

4

¹ Prior year reversals relate to the release of provisions where there has been a lower than expected cost of claims.
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2021
$’000

2020
$’000

173

3,203

(441)

-

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

(2,053)

(5,500)

Movement in booked losses

(3,868)

(16)

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income

(6,189)

(2,313)

(19,052)

(6,712)

(5,715)

(2,013)

6.

INCOME TAX

The major components of income tax expense are:
Income statement
Current income tax
Current income tax charge
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years
Deferred income tax

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit before income tax
multiplied by the company’s applicable income tax rate is as follows:
Accounting loss before income tax
At the company's statutory income tax rate @ 30% (2020:30%)
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year
Rebateable dividends
Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes
Other
Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income

(441)

-

-

(596)

29

50

(61)

246

(6,189)

(2,313)
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Balance Sheet

Income Statement

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(2,848)

(2,831)

17

17

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:
Deferred tax liabilities
Revaluations of available-for-sale investments to fair value

(119)

(113)

6

7

Right-of-use assets

(3,247)

(4,642)

(1,395)

4,642

Work in progress

Prepayments

(1,169)

(992)

177

21

Other

(49)

(174)

(125)

49

Goldcross acquisition

(28)

-

28

-

(7,460)

(8,752)

Provisions

5,182

7,089

1,907

(2,221)

Revaluations of available-for-sale investments to fair value

6,802

5,671

(1,131)

(4,790)

Claims handling costs

4,904

3,651

(1,253)

(666)

Lease liabilities

4,228

3,807

(421)

(3,807)

Booked Losses

3,817

-

(3,817)

-

807

951

144

1,668

60

-

(60)

-

25,800

21,169
-

(436)

(5,923)

(5,516)

Deferred tax assets

Other
Goldcross acquisition
Deferred tax on retained earnings adjustment – AASB 16
Deferred income tax benefit

The deferred tax asset for the consolidated entity relating to prior year tax losses brought into account is $25,800 (2020 – $21,169).
This benefit for tax losses will only be obtained if:
a. the subsidiary entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the
deductions for the losses to be realised, or
b. the subsidiary entity continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation, and
c. no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the subsidiary entity in realising the benefit from the deductions for the losses.
At 30 June 2021, there are no unrecognised temporary differences associated with the Group’s investments in subsidiaries, as the
Group has no liability for additional taxation should unremitted earnings be remitted (2020 – $nil).
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7.

DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

The Guild Group Holdings Limited board did not declare a dividend in FY2021 (2020: $3.7 million on 26 August 2019, paid to the
Pharmacy Guild of Australia on 11 October 2019).
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

-

3,700

62,534

64,135

-

(1,601)

Declared and paid during the year
Dividends on ordinary shares:
Franking credit balance
The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year are:
> franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at 30% (2020: 30%)
> franking credits/debits that will arise from the payment of income tax payable/receivables at the end of the
financial year
> franking debits that will arise from the receipt of income tax receivable as at the end of the financial year

1,423

-

63,957

62,534

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

(12,863)

(4,398)

8,430

9,071

The tax rate at which paid dividends have been franked is 30% (2020: 30%)

8.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a) Reconciliation of the net profit after tax to the net cash flows from operations
Net profit
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Movement in doubtful debts and impairment
Changes in fair value of financial assets
Movement in interest receivable
Movement in investment in joint venture
Movement in distributions from unit trust

83

306

5,132

2,704

(9,605)

(9,687)

(150)

339

(1,893)

(1,901)

(61)

60

1,473

-

(589)

70

Decrease/(increase) in reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

(3,756)

(1,418)

Decrease/(increase) in deferred acquisition costs

(3,958)

297

(20,428)

(3,283)

Loss/(profit) on sale of non-current assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) in work in progress

(Increase) in deferred outwards reinsurance premium expense

48,499

26,183

Increase/(decrease) in premium liabilities

2,141

(10,981)

Increase/(decrease) in amounts payable to reinsurers

2,423

(5,722)

Increase in trade and other payables

6,951

(4,813)

(Increase)/decrease in right-of-use asset

4,272

(15,794)

Increase/(decrease) in lease liabilities

(5,742)

21,030

Increase in provisions

15,096

(1,251)

(Decrease)/increase in income tax payable

(1,540)

2,744

Increase in deferred tax liabilities

(1,094)

4,737

(Increase) in deferred tax assets

(4,751)

(9,816)

Decrease/(increase) in amounts receivable from other related parties

388

-

Increase in accrued income

(89)

-

Increase/(decrease) in claims liabilities

(536)

-

722

(88)

(Increase) in trade and other receivables

(1,310)

13,667

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments

(2,649)

(517)

Net cash flows from operating activities

24,596

22,723

(Decrease)/Increase in deferred revenue
(Decrease)/increase in amount payable to ultimate parent entity
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(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

1 July 2020
$’000

Cash Flows
$’000

Reclassified
as part of
disposal
group
$’000

-

-

-

Dividends Paid

(c)

Foreign
exchange
movement
$’000

Changes in
fair values
$’000

New leases
$’000

Other
$’000

30 June
2021
$’000

-

-

-

-

-

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

55,167

35,727

> Bank overdraft

1,000

1,000

> Leasing/hire purchase/credit cards

1,582

1,554

> Bank guarantees

6,000

5,492

8,582

8,046

Reconciliation of cash
Cash balance comprises:
Cash at bank and on hand

(d)

Financing facilities available
At reporting date, the following financing facilities had been negotiated and were available:
Total facilities

Facilities used at reporting date
-

-

203

89

3,722

3,802

3,925

3,891

> Bank overdraft

1,000

1,000

> Leasing/hire purchase/credit cards

1,379

1,465

> Bank guarantees

2,278

1,689

4,657

4,154

> Bank overdraft
> Leasing/hire purchase/credit cards
> Bank guarantees

Facilities unused at reporting date
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9.

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

127,703

91,666

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(a) Trade receivables

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts

(590)

(774)

127,113

90,892

5,102

3,129

739

414

(b) Other receivables

Other amounts receivable
Loan receivable
Agency service debtors

(c)

3,934

3,579

136,888

98,014

Allowance for doubtful debts
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. A provision for impairment loss is recognised when
there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. An impairment loss of $590,000 (2020: $774,000) has
been recognised for specific 91+ days receivables and there is no past due but not impaired receivables which has not been
recognised by the Group. No individual amount within the impairment allowance is material.				

(d)

Maturity

2021
2020

Total days
$’000
127,211
91,666

0 – 30 days
$’000
118,153
83,827

30 – 60 days
$’000
3,748
2,724

60 – 90 days
$’000
2,347
2,546

91+ days
$’000
2,963
2,570

The loan receivable from Australian Childcare Alliance NSW is in relation to the Guild Early Learning Pty Ltd joint venture. Interest
is calculated quarterly utilising the aggregate of the Australian Bond 5 year yield quoted by Bloomberg at 10.00am (AEST) and a
margin of 1%. There are no set repayment terms or covenants.
Other receivable balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected
that these other receivable balances will be received when due.							
(e)

Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Collateral is not held as security, nor is it the entity's policy to transfer
(on-sell) receivables to special purpose entities.

(f)

Receivables are expected to be received within 12 months of the financial year end					

10. REINSURANCE AND OTHER RECOVERIES RECEIVABLE
(a)

34,122

30,323

(420)

(314)

33,702

30,009

Expected to be realised within 12 months

19,297

16,953

Expected to be realised after 12 months

14,405

13,056

33,702

30,009

Discount to present value
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

(c)

2020
$’000

On outstanding claims
Expected future recoveries (undiscounted)

(b)

2021
$’000

Maturity

Actuarial Assumptions
The effect of changes in assumptions on the net outstanding claims liability, which incorporates the reinsurance recoveries on outstanding
claims and other recoveries receivable, is disclosed in the claim liability note.							
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11. INVESTMENTS
(a) Fixed interest deposits – fair value

(b) Investment in unlisted unit trust – fair value

(c) Agricultural investments

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

245,926

229,228

60,516

71,535

1,054

996

19,145

17,513

19,145

17,513

(d) Amounts receivable (at amortised cost) in respect of:

Investment loans

(e) Loans*

(f)

762

605

327,403

319,877

Maturity
Expected to be realised within 12 months

32,856

31,679

Expected to be realised after 12 months

294,547

288,198

327,403

319,877

* Loans have been made directly with selected Meridian senior employees for the purchase of Meridian Shares via the Employee Share Trust and are fully
recourse.		

Investments – determination of fair value
There has been no change during the current reporting period in the processes used for the determination of the fair value for
investments.
The table below separates the total investments balance based on a hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in the
determination of fair value. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
> Level 1 – the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets.
> Level 2 – the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).
> Level 3 – the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. Investment
loans are carried at amortised cost and not fair valued.
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11. INVESTMENTS cont.

Quoted
market price
(Level 1)

Valuation
technique –
market
observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Valuation
technique –
non market
observable
inputs
(Level 3)

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Investment in unlisted unit trust – fair value

-

39,396

21,120

60,516

Fixed interest deposits – fair value

-

245,926

-

245,926

Agricultural investment

-

-

1,054

1,054

Investment/other loans

-

-

19,907

19,907

-

285,322

42,081

327,403

-

54,296

17,239

71,535

Fixed interest deposits – fair value

-

229,228

-

229,228

Agricultural investment

-

-

996

996

Investment/other loans

-

-

18,118

18,118

-

283,524

36,353

319,877

2021
Investments

2020
Investments
Investment in unlisted unit trust – fair value

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:
The significant unobservable inputs have been summarised using the fair value measurement categorised within the Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy for the Agricultural Investment/Unlisted unit trust.
Valuation Technique
Guild’s proportion of net assets

Significant Unobservable Inputs
Net asset value

Liquidity discount factor of 30%

Range

Sensitivity of the input to fair value

+10%

10% increase/(decrease) in net asset
value will result in an increase/
(decrease) in fair value by $2,020K

-10%
+10%
-10%

10% increase/(decrease) in liquidity
discount factor will result in a
(decrease)/increase in fair value
by $32K
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

36,353

23,844

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements
Opening Balance
Fair value movement
New business/purchases
Repayments
Closing balance

1,212

(775)

22,909

18,845

(18,393)

(5,561)

42,081

36,353
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12. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
The Group has a 50% interest in Guild Early Learning Pty Ltd (2020: 50%) which involves general insurance underwriting for
workers compensation. The Group's interest in Guild Early Learning Pty Ltd is accounted for using the equity method in the
financial statements. The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Company's investment in Guild Early
Learning Pty Ltd:				
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

4,769

2,108

(4,141)

(1,780)

Equity

628

328

Company's share in equity = 50% (2020: 50%)

314

164

314

164

7,579

3,183

Current assets
Current liabilities

(a)

Company's carrying amount of the investment
Revenue
Administrative expenses

(7,993)

(4,153)

Profit before income tax

(414)

(970)

Income tax expense

(285)

290

Net profit for the year

(699)

(680)

(350)

(340)

13. PREPAYMENTS AND WORK IN PROGRESS

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Work in progress – contract asset under AASB 15

3,898

3,309

Prepayments

8,795

6,084

105

16

12,798

9,409

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

16,523

16,820

(b) Company's share of net profit for the year
Guild Early Learning Pty Ltd had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 30 June 2021.

Accrued income – contract under AASB 15

14. DEFERRED INSURANCE ASSETS
(a)

Deferred Acquisition Costs
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period
Deferral of expenses in the period
Expensed in the period
Carrying amount at the end of the period

(b)

44,967

38,169

(41,009)

(38,466)

20,481

16,523

20,481

16,523

20,481

16,523

Maturity
Expected to be realised within 12 months
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(c)

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the period

15,676

12,393

Adjust opening balance for unearned commissions formerly disclosed in Note 19a

(2,001)

-

Deferred Outwards Reinsurance Premium Expense

Deferral of expenses in the period
Expensed in the period
Carrying amount at the end of the period
(d)

86,404

41,362

(76,536)

(38,079)

23,543

15,676

23,543

15,676

23,543

15,676

Maturity
Expected to be realised within 12 months

Leasehold
Improvements

Fixtures &
Fittings

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

Reconciliation 2021
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period
Additions
Utilised/Disposals
Depreciation charge for the year
Carrying amount at the end of the period

-

1,682
548
(41)
(716)
1,473

1,682
548
(41)
(716)
1,473

Reconciliation 2020
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period
Disposed under AASB 16

464
(464)

2,468
-

2,932
(464)

-

263
(16)
(1,033)
1,682

263
(16)
(1,033)
1,682

Property
$’000

Motor vehicle
$’000

Equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

Reconciliation 2021
At 1July 2020
Additions
Less disposals
Depreciation
Risk-free adjustment
As at 30 June 2021

15,707
955
(224)
(5,547)
354
11,245

541
174
(35)
(308)
7
379

133
8
(128)
1
14

16,381
1,137
(259)
(5,983)
362
11,638

Reconciliation 2020
At 1July 2019
Additions
Less disposals
Depreciation
Risk-free adjustment
As at 30 June 2020

18,857
2,238
(190)
(5,288)
90
15,707

487
286
(234)
2
541

277
(144)
133

19,621
2,524
(190)
(5,666)
92
16,381

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Additions
Utilised/Disposals
Depreciation charge for the year
Carrying amount at the end of the period

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET
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2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Goodwill at the beginning of the year

3,757

3,757

Balance at end of year

3,757

3,757

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
(a)

Goodwill

Goodwill – Impairment Tests
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group's operating divisions, or cash generating units ('CGU')
(superannuation) which represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.	
The recoverable amount for the relevant CGU has been determined based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use is calculated
using a discounted cash flow methodology covering a five year period with an appropriate terminal value at the end of year five less net
assets required, for the CGU. The carrying value of identified intangible assets is deducted from the value generated from the cash flow
projections to arrive at a recoverable value for goodwill which is then compared with the carrying value of goodwill.	

Key assumptions used
The following describes the key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill:
> Cash flow forecasts – are based on cash flow projections from 2021/2022 financial budgets, as well as the three year business plans
approved by management and the Board. Five year periods are used to enable appropriate phasing to terminal values.
> Terminal growth rates – are based on past performance, market performance and management's expectations for future
performance in each CGU. Terminal growth rate 0% (2020 - 0%) – Zero growth rate has been applied for periods after year five.
> Discount rate – the discount rates used reflect management's estimate of the time value of money, and the benchmark to assess
operating performance and to evaluate future investment proposals. Discount rate of 10% (2020 - 10%) has been applied which is the
pre tax hurdle rate.

Sensitivity – Superannuation
For a period of five years, using any one of annual investment returns of negative 10%, client exits of 25% or a 50% discount rate would
be required to give a value in use equal to the carrying amount of the CGU.

Computer
Software

Assets in the
course of
Development

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

Reconciliation 2021
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period
Transfers
Additions
Amortisation
Carrying amount at the end of the period

2,924
5,994
1,985
(1,768)
9,135

3,920
(5,994)
2,345
(45)
226

6,844
4,330
(1,813)
9,361

Reconciliation 2020
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period
Transfers
Additions
Amortisation
Carrying amount at the end of the period

4,312
466
23
(1,877)
2,924

1,150
(466)
3,236
3,920

5,462
3,259
(1,877)
6,844

(b)

Systems Development & Computer Software – at cost

Total intangible assets and goodwill
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2021
$’000

2020
$’000

26,737

17,715

Amounts payable to reinsurers

6,865

4,426

Amounts payable to ultimate parent entity

1,528

1,113

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(a)

Trade and other payables

Deferred revenue – contracts with customers under AASB
(b)

2,214
25,468

36,808

25,468

36,808

25,468

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

155,315

115,940

Maturity
Expected to be realised within 12 months

(c)

1,678
36,808

Fair value
Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

19. PREMIUM LIABILITIES
(a)

Unearned premium
Contract liabilities - Unearned Commission (now recognised in Note 14c FY2021)

(b)

Carrying amount at the beginning of the period
Adjust opening balance for unearned commissions now disclosed in Note 14c

2,001
117,941

117,941

127,844

(2,001)

-

274,957

202,978

(235,582)

(212,881)

155,315

117,941

Undiscounted net central estimate

70,644

51,022

Discount to present value

(1,370)

(549)

69,274

50,473

Deferral of premiums on contracts in the period
Earning of premiums written in the period
Carrying amount at the end of the period
(c)

155,315

Maturity
Premium liabilities are expected to be earned within 12 months of the financial year end.

(d)

Liability adequacy test
Expected present value of future cash flows for future claims including risk margin

Risk margin at the 75th percentile of insurance liabilities

11,818

8,120

Expected present value of future cash flows for future claims including risk margin

81,092

58,593

The probability of adequacy applied in the liability adequacy test differs from the probability of adequacy adopted in determining the
outstanding claims provision. The reason for the difference is that the former is a benchmark used only to test the sufficiency of net
premium liabilities whereas the latter is a measure of the adequacy of the outstanding claims provision actually carried by the Group.
AASB 1023 requires the inclusion of a risk margin in insurance liabilities, but does not prescribe a minimum level of margin. Whilst there
is established practice in the setting of the probability of adequacy for the claims provision, no such guidance exists in respect of the level
of probability of adequacy to be used in determining the adequacy of premium liabilities. The Group has adopted a risk margin for the
purposes of the liability adequacy test to produce a 75% probability of adequacy in respect of total insurance liabilities. The 75% basis is a
recognised industry benchmark in Australia, being the minimum probability of adequacy required for Australian licensed insurers by APRA.
The application of the liability adequacy test in respect of the net premium liabilities identified a surplus at 30 June 2021 and 2020.
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20. INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Guild Finance Facility Limited had a two year banking facility agreement which expired 23 June 2016.
The $16.84 million floating rate loan with the Pharmacy Guild of Australia qualifies as Tier 2 capital for APRA reporting purposes.	
(a)

Loan – floating rate
Loan payable to ultimate parent entity – floating rate
Loan payable to ultimate parent entity – fix interest loan

(b)

16,840

412

-

17,252

16,840

Maturity
Expected to be realised within 12 months
Expected to be realised after 12 months

(c)

16,840

-

-

17,252

16,840

17,252

16,840

Assets pledged as security
The carrying amount of assets pledged as security for interest bearing liabilities;
Fixed and floating company charge on assets
6,332

6,332

Guild Finance Facility Limited

790

790

Guild Commercial Finance Pty Limited

138

138

7,260

7,260

50

50

50

50

7,310

7,310

Guild Superannuation Services Limited

Fixed Charge
Shares in Guild Trustee Services Pty Limited
Total assets pledged as security

A fixed and floating charge, in favour of the bank, applies against all the guarantees supported by a Registered Equitable Mortgage.
Fair values
The carrying amount of the Group's borrowings disclosed in order of liquidity approximate their fair value.
Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior years, there were no defaults or breaches on any of the loans.

21. LEASE LIABILITIES

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Balance at 1 July

21,503

25,163

Additions

1,125

2,522

Less disposals

(347)

(178)

603

1,059

Interest charged

(7,516)

(7,139)

Risk free adjustment

289

76

Balance at 30 June

15,657

21,503

Repayment of lease liabilities

Maturity
Expected to be released within 12 months

7,313

6,667

Expected to be released after 12 months

8,344

14,836

15,657

21,503

The Company has used one single Incremental Borrowing Rate (IBR) for a portfolio of leases having similar risk characteristics. The IBR is updated
twice yearly at 31 December and 30 June. The lease liabilities was discounted at the reference rate as at 30 June 2021, which was 3.71%.
The Company has determined the IBR to be the interest rate provided by the Ultimate parent entity plus the six month BBSY interest rate,
which is sourced from the Reserve bank of Australia twice yearly.
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22. PROVISIONS

Employee
Entitlements
$’000

At 1 July 2020

18,332

Arising during the year

13,534

Utilised

(8,064)
(873)

Unused amounts Reversed
As at 30 June 2021

22,929

Current 2021

16,936

Non-current 2021

5,993
22,929

Current 2020

12,382

Non-current 2020

5,950
18,332

Employee Entitlements
a. Annual Leave
Liability for annual leave is recognised at the nominal amounts unpaid at the reporting date using remuneration rates that are
expected to be paid when the liability is settled, including oncosts.
b. Long Service Leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised as the present value of estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The estimated future cash outflows are discounted using corporate bond
yields which have terms to maturity that match, as close as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. Factors which affect the
estimated future cash outflows such as expected future salary increases, experience of employee departures and period of service,
are incorporated in the measurement.
c. Short Term Incentive (STI)
The short term incentive plan continued in operation during the current reporting year. Eligible employees have the capacity to earn
a proportion of their base pay as a cash incentive annually. The incentive opportunity is set depending on an employee's role and
responsibilities. The majority of employees are on a 8%, 10%, 15% or 20% plan. The incentive payments are determined based on
an assessment of individual performance and achievement of a range of business unit and individual goals.
d. Long Term Incentive (LTI)
LTI rewards behaviour and results that add value to the Group's business. The LTI is based on company, business unit and individual
performance metrics. The rules for the payment of the incentive schemes must, and have been developed to meet the APRA
prudential requirements in respect to remuneration arrangements. Participation in the Group LTI scheme commencing 1 July 2010 is
only available to the following eligible employees: Executive Team and Extended Leadership Team (ELT)/ Technical Talent. Incentive
achievement targets for the Group or business units will be set annually by the Chief Executive Officer and the Board. The LTI bonus
earned will be paid at the end of year 3 on a rolling year (1 July – 30 June) basis.
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23. CLAIMS LIABILITIES
(a)

Expected future claims payments (undiscounted – central estimate)
Discount to present value

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

226,630

189,734

(4,737)

(5,273)

221,893

184,461

13,707

10,145

235,600

194,606

51,778

44,336

Liability for outstanding claims

287,378

238,942

Expected to be realised within 12 months

140,307

88,020

Expected to be realised after 12 months

147,071

150,922

287,378

238,942

Claims handling costs
Risk margin

(b) Process for determining risk margin
The overall risk margin was determined by the Appointed Actuary based on the uncertainty of the outstanding claims estimates for
each class and allowing for diversification between different business classes. The uncertainty for each class was established using
benchmarking, supplemented by analysis of the history of Guild Insurance.
The risk margin applied to the COVID-19 Business Interruption provision is based on a range of possible outcomes which potentially
may arise out of the upcoming court cases.
The overall assumptions regarding uncertainty for each class (setting aside the COVID-19 provision) were applied to the net central
estimates, and the results were aggregated, allowing for diversification in order to arrive at an overall provision which is intended to have
a 85% (2020 - 95%) probability of sufficiency (POS).
The overall risk margin for the underlying business (excluding COVID-19 business interruption claims) applied was 22.0% (2020 - 22.7%).
(c) Actuarial assumptions and methods
The following ranges of key actuarial assumptions were used in the measurement of outstanding claims and recoveries, where
appropriate, at the reporting date.
2021

2020

Inflation rate

2.52%

1.80%

Superimposed inflation rate (weighted average)

4.01%

4.60%

Discount rate (weighted average)

0.88%

0.80%

Claims handling expense rate

6.45%

5.50%

2.7

3.4

Weighted average term to settlement (number of years)

Process used to determine assumptions
A description of the processes used to determine these assumptions is provided below:
Inflation rate
Economic inflation assumptions are set by reference to current economic indicators.
Superimposed inflation rate
Superimposed inflation occurs due to non-economic effects such as court settlements increasing at a faster rate than the economic
inflation rate utilised. An allowance for superimposed inflation was made for each underlying model, where appropriate, based on
expected cost pressures to re-emerge.	
Discount rate
The discount rate is derived from market yields on government securities.
Claims handling expense rate
A rate for claims handling expenses was calculated by reference to past experience of estimated claims handling costs as a percentage
of past payments.
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23. CLAIMS LIABILITIES cont.
Weighted average term to settlement
The average weighted term to settlement is calculated as the time weighted average of projected aggregate cash flows for all classes of
business (gross of reinsurance and other recoveries and discounted to the balance date).
Sensitivity analysis
The impact on the profit or loss to changes in key actuarial assumptions is summarised below. Each change has been calculated in
isolation of the other changes and is gross and net of reinsurance recoveries.

Variable
Recognised amounts per the financial statements
Claim Inflation
Discount Rate
Claims Handling Expense
Risk Margin

Movement

Gross of
Recoveries
$’000

Net of
Recoveries
$’000

Equity
$’000

+ 50 basis points
+ 50 basis points
+ 50 basis points
+ 50 basis points

2,813
(3,011)
1,355
1,178

2,666
(2,726)
1,351
1,034

(1,866)
1,908
(946)
(724)

Table includes the sensitivity of the COVID-19 pandemic related reserves to the claims handing expenses and risk margin.
Sensitivity to Key Court Cases
The key assumptions in relation to the COVID-19 business interruption provision are outlined in the table below. The table quantifies the
impact on the COVID-19 business interruption provision of the outcome of the ongoing legal proceedings in relation to the second test
case, which is uncertain at this date.
Insurers commenced a second test case in the Federal Court of Australia in February 2021 to test the application of further issues
around pandemic coverage in business interruption policies. The second test case will determine the meaning of policy wordings in
relation to the definition of a disease, proximity of an outbreak to a business and prevention of access to premises due to a government
mandate as well as other policy wording matters. The hearing for the second test case is expected to commence in September 2021.
The outcome of the first test case which was announced by the Supreme Court of New South Wales Court of Appeal (NSWCA) which
determined that pandemic exclusions that refer to the Quarantine Act rather than the Biosecurity Act, are not effective to exclude cover
for losses associated with COVID-19. The policies that made reference to the Quarantine Act have been used as a basis for the sums
insured exposure within the actuarial model.

Assumption

Outcome

Central Estimate

Mean
$m

Difference
$m

32.0

Deemed Ordered to Close

Favourable

27.4

(4.6)

Deemed Ordered to Close

Unfavourable

72.4

40.3

Outbreak at Large

Favourable

4.7

(27.3)

Outbreak at Large

Unfavourable

50.5

18.4

Both Prevention of Access Defence

Unfavourable

91.1

59.1

Probability Trending is not allowed

Favourable

24.4

(7.6)

Probability Trending is not allowed

Unfavourable

33.6

1.6

Adjustment Net of Government Subsidies

Favourable

26.9

(5.1)

Adjustment Net of Government Subsidies

Unfavourable

49.1

17.0

Notes:
> The sensitivities are based on the central estimate of the BI provision excluding risk margin.
> The sensitivity does not cover assumptions around % of claims dependant on the sector.
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(d) Reconciliation of movement in discounted outstanding claims liability
2020

2021
Gross
$’000

Reinsurance
$’000

Net
$’000

Gross
$’000

Reinsurance
$’000

Net
$’000

Brought forward
Movement in the prior year central estimate
Current year claims incurred
Claims paid/recoveries received
Movement in discounting

238,942
(17,100)
120,807
(53,958)
(749)

30,009
(20,448)
24,728
(11,581)
(25)

208,933
3,348
96,079
(42,377)
(724)

212,759
(18,880)
95,141
(54,076)
2,900

28,591
407
14,004
(14,175)
247

184,168
(19,287)
81,137
(39,901)
2,653

Movement in risk margin
Movement in claims handling expense
Carried forward

(2,656)
2,092
287,378

11,079
(60)
33,702

(13,735)
2,152
253,676

1,098
238,942

912
23
30,009

(912)
1,076
208,933

23. CLAIMS LIABILITIES cont.
(e) Claims development table
The following table shows the development of net undiscounted outstanding claims relative to the ultimate expected claims for the ten
most recent accident years.
2012
(and
prior)
$’000

2013
$’000

At end of accident year

696,726

One year later
Two years later

2015
$’000

2016
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2019
$’000

2020
$’000

2021
$’000

Total
$’000

79,813

96,793 103,690

86,124

91,464

86,054

86,952

99,241

93,700

696,726

690,029

74,161

88,218

97,177

82,011

84,207

80,950

87,690 109,618

769,841

681,517

72,054

84,314

93,489

79,488

82,383

78,339

88,671

852,470

Three years later

677,569

69,370

81,827

92,810

81,717

83,002

76,965

Four years later

670,511

67,323

81,602

92,903

78,892

82,243

Five years later

666,435

67,676

78,866

93,369

75,741

Six years later

663,638

67,280

77,736

91,994

Seven years later

660,860

66,858

76,790

Eight years later

658,288

65,435

Nine years later

655,269

Current estimate of
cumulative claims cost

655,269

65,435

76,790

91,994

75,741

82,243

76,965

88,671 109,618

93,700 1,416,426

Cumulative payments

646,407

64,245

73,670

89,172

69,335

73,217

60,934

61,595

57,702

22,593 1,218,870

Outstanding claims –
undiscounted

8,862

1,190

3,120

2,822

6,406

9,026

16,031

27,076

51,916

71,107

Net

2014
$’000

Estimate of Ultimate claims cost

Discount
Outstanding claims

941,531
1,007,495
1,082,548
1,155,476
1,231,912
1,323,416
1,416,426

(150)

(17)

(96)

(62)

(141)

(253)

(527)

(1,600)

8,712

1,173

3,024

2,760

6,265

8,773

15,504

25,476

197,556

(32) (1,499)

(4,377)

69,608

193,179

51,884

Claims handling expenses

13,708

Risk margin

46,789

Total net outstanding claims per the Statement of Financial Position
Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims liability
Total gross outstanding claims per the Statement of Financial Position
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24. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
(a) Authorised shares
Consolidated and Parent entity

Number of shares

$’000

13,149,054

15,129

2021
(i) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares issued during the year and fully paid ($1 par value)
Total ordinary shares issued and fully paid as at 30 June 2021

6,290,990

6,291

19,440,044

21,420

12,505,435

14,485

643,619

644

13,149,054

15,129

2020
(i) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid ($1.55 par value)
Ordinary shares issued during the year and fully paid ($1 par value)
Total ordinary shares issued and fully paid as at 30 June 2020
(b) Terms and conditions of contributed equity
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared.
(c) Capital management
When managing capital, management's objective is to ensure the Group continues as a going concern as well as to maintain optimal
returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the
lowest cost of capital available to the Group. Management adjust the capital structure to take advantage of favourable costs of capital
or high returns on assets. As the market is constantly changing, management may change the amount of dividends to be paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. During 2020/2021, no dividends were paid
by Guild Group Holdings Limited (2019/2020: $3,700,000).
Notes

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

108,541

117,238

(d) Retained earnings
Balance at 1 July
AASB 16 adjustment on retained earnings 1 July
Net profit attributable to members of Guild Group Holdings Limited
Total available for appropriation

-

(588)

(13,252)

(4,409)

95,289

112,241

-

(3,700)

95,289

108,541

1,581

1,649

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

750

602

Retained earnings

1,410

1,021

Balance at 30 June

2,160

1,623

Dividends paid or provided
Balance at 30 June
(e) Merger reserve (pooling of interest)
Merger reserve

25. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

30(a)

(a) Interest in:
‘A’ class ordinary shares

(b) Guild Group Holdings Limited owns 50.05% of the total equity in Meridian Lawyers Limited. The remaining 49.95% of equity is held
by the Meridian Employee Share Scheme (24.95%) and Steadfast Group Limited (ASX:SGL) (25%).
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26. RELATED PARTIES
(Amounts are in whole dollars)

2021
$

2020
$

Transactions of Directors
Guild Insurance Limited had loans to directors during the period, Mr. J. Dowling (Director of the
parent entity) on normal terms and conditions no more favourable than those available on similar
transactions to other customers:
Repayments received during the year in relation to the loans
Aggregate amount of loans outstanding at year end
Interest revenue from directors

8,854

9,531

250,000

250,000

8,854

9,531

Transactions of Parent
During 2006, 2008 and 2012 Guild Insurance Limited made loans and hire purchase arrangements
with Pharmacy Guild of Australia (SA Branch) on normal terms and conditions no more favourable
than those available on similar transactions to other customers:
618,643

798,795

Guild Insurance Limited commission paid/payable on policies written to The Pharmacy Guild
of Australia. The rates are based on normal commercial terms and conditions.

3,587,303

3,185,860

Commission on policies payable at balance date

Interest paid to The Pharmacy Guild of Australia

1,449,322

1,091,631

Sponsorship Fees paid by the parent and subsidiary entities to The Pharmacy Guild of Australia.

168,132

176,332

Insurance Premiums received by subsidiary entities from The Pharmacy Guild of Australia.

586,853

605,171

Legal fees received by subsidiary entities from The Pharmacy Guild of Australia.

244,132

385,079

555,474

898,110

Subsidiaries of Guild Group Holdings Limited sold insurance policies and financial products to
key management personnel or their related entities during the year within a normal employee or
customer relationship on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available on similar
transactions to other employees in line with the company's policy on staff discounts.
Transactions of Other Related Parties:
Legal fees received from other related parties
Insurance premiums received from other related parties

57,220

71,187

Commission paid/payable to Steadfast owned brokers

257,364

239,631

Loan receivable – Joint venture partner

739,222

413,994

Parent entity:
The parent entity (and ultimate parent entity) is The Pharmacy Guild of Australia.

27. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE
Trent Twomey resigned as Director on 31 August 2021 and Anthony Tassone was appointed as Director on 1 September 2021.

28. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
2021
$

2020
$

Audit of the financial report of the consolidated group

455,968

356,337

Assurance services in relation to the consolidated group

197,859

208,446

653,827

564,783

(Amounts are in whole dollars)
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by Ernst & Young:
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29. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Directors’ remuneration
The following Directors held office during the year:
Mr A. Bloore, Mr J. Dowling, Ms L. Jenkinson, Mr N. Panayiaris, Mr S. Somogyi, Mr T. Twomey, Ms K. Pratt, Ms C. Dube and
Mr M. Kay.
Income paid or payable, or otherwise made available, in respect of the financial year, to all directors of the consolidated entity, directly
or indirectly, from the entity or any related party:
(Amounts are in whole dollars)
Short term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Total compensation

2021
$

2020
$

971,268

878,057

94,328

86,201

1,065,596

964,258

Other Key Management Personnel
Remuneration received or due and receivable by executive officers (including directors) of the consolidated group whose remuneration
is $100,000 or more, from the entities in the consolidated entity or a related party, in connection with the management of the affairs of
the entities in the consolidated group, whether as an executive officer or otherwise is:				
(Amounts are in whole dollars)
Short term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long term benefits
Termination benefits*
Total compensation

2021
$

2020
$

4,846,602

6,257,191

304,973

311,651

1,192,976

1,022,523

-

36,204

6,344,551

7,627,569

* Termination benefits relate to key management personnel who have ceased employment.

The remuneration of all Leadership Team members includes a base remuneration component, a short-term incentive payment and a
pro-rata long-term incentive payment.
The remuneration detailed above only includes amounts that were either paid or payable at 30 June 2021.
If certain performance conditions are met and employment continues an additional amount may be payable in accordance with the
long-term incentive scheme at a future date.
Subsidiaries of Guild Group Holdings Limited sold insurance policies and financial products to key management personnel or their
related entities during the year within a normal employee or customer relationship on terms and conditions no more favourable than
those available on similar transactions to other employees in line with the company's policy on staff discounts.
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30. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY ENTITIES
Name of entity

Book Value of Parent
Entity’s Investment

Class
of shares

Equity Holding

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

2021
%

2020
%

34,228

27,938

100

100

Ordinary

Parent Entity
Guild Group Holdings Limited
Controlled Entities
Guild Insurance Limited

5,862

5,862

100

100

Ordinary

Guild Finance Facility Limited

750

750

100

100

Ordinary

Meridian Lawyers Limited

751

898

50

52

Ordinary

350

350

100

100

Ordinary

9,544

9,544

100

100

Ordinary

243

243

100

100

Ordinary

51,728

45,585

Guild Superannuation Services Limited

Guild Commercial Finance Pty Limited
GuildLink Pty Ltd
Guild Solutions Inc.
Entity Investments at 30 June

All controlled entities are incorporated in Australia.
Guild Group Holdings Limited owns 50.05% (2020: 52.05%) of the total equity in Meridian Lawyers Limited. The remaining 49.95%
(2020: 47.95%) of equity is held by the Meridian Employee Share Scheme (24.95%) (2020: 22.95%) and Steadfast Group Limited
(ASX:SGL) (25%) (2020:25%).
Gold Cross acquisition
Gold Cross Products and Services Pty Ltd and PharmaDotCom Pty Ltd (Gold Cross) was acquired by Guild Insurance Limited on the
30th of June 2021. 100% of the equity (403 fully paid ordinary shares) was acquired for a consideration of $6,290,990. At the date
of acquisition Gold Cross had net assets of $6,223,053, measured at book value. Guild Insurance Limited recognised 100% of these
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at book value.
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30. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY ENTITIES cont.
a. Carrying value of assets and liabilities of Gold Cross Products and Services Pty Ltd and PharmaDotCom
Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2021 are as follows:

$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

7,580,244

Trade and other receivables

742,557

Other Assets

80,978

Investments – Shares

136,453

Total Current Assets

8,540,232

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant & equipment

49,998

Right of Use Assets

197,246

Intangibles

37,834

Deferred Tax Assets

32,123

Total Non-Current Assets

317,201

Total Assets

8,857,433

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

851,151

Provisions

108,836

Deferred Revenue

182,783

Income Tax Payable

836,278

Interest Bearing Liabilities

411,580

Total Current Liabilities

2,390,628

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

11,686

Lease Liabilities

232,066

Total Non-Current Liabilities

243,752

Total Liabilities

2,634,380

Net Assets Transferred over to Guild Insurance Limited as at 30 June 2021

6,223,053

b. Consideration paid to acquire Gold Cross Products and Services Pty Ltd and PharmaDotCom Pty Ltd

6,290,990

Book value of net assets and liabilities acquired

6,223,053

Merger reserve recognised on acquisition

(67,937)

31. CONTINGENCIES
The entity has $3,722,237 (2020: $3,802,269) in contingent liabilities relating to bank guarantees as at 30 June 2021.
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32. PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of financial position

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

963

363

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

560

560

Income tax receivable

1,620

(332)

Prepayments and inventories

1,551

347

301

385

Trade and other receivables

Property, plant and equipment

5,063

1,464

57,143

48,686

296

396

67,497

51,869

Trade and other payables

13,281

4,782

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

16,840

16,840

6,261

4,745

-

323

Total Liabilities

36,382

26,690

Net Assets

31,115

25,179

Contributed equity

21,420

15,129

Retained earnings

9,695

10,050

31,115

25,179

Deferred tax assets
Financial assets
Intangible assets
Total Assets
Liabilities

Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities

Equity

Total Equity

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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32. PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS cont.

Parent
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Other revenue

23,377

24,979

Administration expenses

(5,521)

(5,509)

Marketing expenses

(1,112)

(715)

(27)

(14)

(16,668)

(14,413)

(619)

(798)

Occupancy expenses
Salary related expenses
Other expenses
Unrealised gain on investment

58

55

Profit on sale of subsidiary entity

10

(22)

(502)

3,563

146

30

(356)

3,593

(356)

3,593

(356)

3,593

Profit before income tax
Income tax credit
Net profit for the year
Profit for the year is attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Other comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:
Owners of the parent

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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